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Preface

I am happy to place before the teachers and students the work on Accounting Theory and
Analysis which is prepared keeping in mind both foundations of Accounting such as Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles and Accounting Theory, and also some of the Accounting issues
such as Human Resource Accounting, Accounting for Price Level Changes, Creative Accounting,
etc.

The first chapter deals with the historical background of GAAPs, the contributions of AICPA,
FASB, etc., for the development of GAAPs, and different Accounting Principles, Concepts,
Conventions, etc. An attempt is also made to trace the recent trend in the nature accounting principles
in the form of IFRSs, Ind ASs, etc. Chapter - II begins with the need for Accounting Theory and
ends with the discussion of three basic equity theories. In between, classification of Accounting
Theories and the approaches to the formulation of Accounting Theory are discussed. Different
aspects pertaining to Human Resource Accounting including the approaches to ascertain the value
of human resource are analyzed in the third chapter. Quantification of effects of changes in price
level on the items of financial statements and their incorporation into the financial statements are
discussed in the fourth chapter. Chapter - V deals with the accounting for intangible assets covering
various aspects such as meaning, recognition criteria, capitalization, amortization period,
amortization methods, impairment loss, etc. Meaning of Creative Accounting, motives behind
manipulation of accounts, modes operandi, etc., are discussed in the sixth chapter. The last chapter
deals with analysis and interpretation of contents of financial statements.

This book is prepared systematically explaining the concepts, procedure, rationale, etc.,
unequivocally followed by many appropriate illustrations drawn from the question papers of
previous examinations. A number of problems are solved wherein each important and difficult
adjustment/entry is explained in the form of working notes. And the presentation and analysis are
simple and systematic.

I take this opportunity to invite the co-author of this work, Inchara P. M Gowda who is very
good in analytical aspects and has effective presentation skills. She obtained MBA Degree with
first class from Visvesvaraya Technological University, Belgaum and she is now preparing for her
Research Programme.

I wish to place on records my sincere thanks to Sri. Vijay Pandey of Himalaya Publishing
House Pvt Ltd for publishing this work. I also thank Sri. Madhu, S of Siddhi Softtek for the neat
DTP work. Finally, I request the readers to send their comments, suggestions, etc., to improve the
quality of the book further.

J. Madegowda, Ph.D.,
Professor, Chairman and Dean,
Department of Studies in Commerce,
Kuvempu University, Jnana Sahyadri,
Shankaraghatta 577 451
(Shimoga District, Karnataka State, India)
E-mail: madegowdaj@gmail.com
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About the Book
This is an important work as it combines the fundamental theoretical aspects of Accounting and
some of Accounting issues and the recent developments in the field of Accounting which have
been drawing the attention of both the professionals and academics. It covers some of the
foundations of Accounting such as Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAPs), and
Accounting Theory, and also some of the recent developments in the Accounting area like
Accounting for Intangible Assets, Human Resource Accounting, Accounting for Changes in Price
Level, etc.
The book lays emphasis on the comprehensive analysis of each and every concept supported well
by the appropriate illustrations. It views the concepts, techniques, etc., from the point of view of
practical relevance and how far these concepts, techniques, etc., have been adopted, and to what
extent they can be adopted by the corporate sector. A number of problems are solved wherein each
important and difficult aspect is explained in the form of working notes. And the analysis and
presentation are simple and systematic.
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Learning Objective: After the study of this chapter, one should be able, 
 To understand the need for, and meaning and definitions of, Accounting Principles.  
 To obtain a complete idea about the structure of GAAPs and also different Accounting 

Assumptions, Concepts, Principles and Conventions.  
 

 To learn the recent trends in GAAPs. 
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Introduction 
 There has been a continuous and substantial increase in the activities of business enterprises, 
their number, size, complexity of problems faced by them, diverse business set ups ranging from 
labour-oriented to highly mechanized operations, emergence of new types of problems, unprecedented 
developments in the international relations and business, etc. As a result of all these development, the 
accounting statements, reports, etc., are required, today, by a large number of diverse groups 
compared to the past when the business information was required mainly by the owners. It is due to 
the reason that, in the past, only the proprietor was the person who had a major and/or monetary stake 
in the business. During those days, the reports were playing a very limited role as the proprietor 
himself was managing, supervising and controlling the activities of his business. If at all there was any 
report, it was only to the proprietor and that too in the form which better suited the needs of the 
proprietor. Since then, the reporting system has undergone a number of changes including 
modification and improvements mainly due to the changes in the business environment. Now-a-days, 
a large number of persons throughout the world are associated with the corporate sector in one way or 
the other. These developments, with other developments, are posing a number of problems to the 
accountants. 
 One of the important developments in the corporate sector attributable to the larger public 
involvement is the separation of ownership of business units from the management, and the 
recognition of business units as separate entities. Consequently, the companies (i.e., the management) 
have to report to a number of groups of people. The requirements, needs, stake, etc., of the people 
differ from one group to another, and also from one to another within a group. The work of the 
accountants, now-a-day, is both difficult and challenging as they are required to satisfy not only the 
requirements of Law and users but also the requirements of their own professional ethics. They are not 
free to prepare and present the financial statements and reports in a way they wish to prepare and 
present. They are, therefore, under different types of pulls and pressures.  
 On the other hand, if they (i.e., accountants) are allowed freely to prepare and present the 
financial reports in any way they wish, it may lead to a situation wherein the statements and reports so 
prepared by the accountants are understandable only by those who prepared them but not by the 
persons who use them (i.e., to whom the reports are prepared). And this may defeat the very purpose 
and utility of financial reports.  
 This calls for certain guidelines, principles, criteria, rules, etc., to help the accountants in the 
preparation and presentation of financial statements and reports systematically. Hence, the 
development of accounting principles has closely been associated with the phenomenal increase in the 
activities of business enterprises. However, these accounting principles play an important role at two 
levels. 
a. Initially, they help the accounting departments in preparing the financial statements. They guide 

the accountants (who prepare the financial statements) on the appropriate accounting treatment of 
various business transactions and events.  
 

b. Later, the principles enable the users (of financial reports) to understand the contents of the 
reports in the right perspective by ensuring the users some degree of uniformity and 
comparability of facts and figures provided to them. 

Need for Accounting Principles 
 It may be noted here that the term ‘financial statements’ normally refers to Profit and Loss 
Account, and Balance Sheet. However, even the ‘notes to accounts’, other statements, schedules, 
annexures, etc., are considered as parts of financial statements. These financial statements should be 
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prepared by adhering to the accounting principles. This is due to many reasons including the 
following. 
a. There has been a substantial increase in the activities of corporate sector, and the increase is both 

intensive and extensive. Further, one can observe the changes that are taking place in the 
environment in which the business undertakings are functioning. These changes are posing a 
number of difficulties to the accountants who are assigned with the responsibility of accounting 
for the business transactions systematically. Hence, the accountants need the help of accounting 
principles which may be in the form of guidelines, rules or procedure. These principles help the 
accountants to analyze the business transactions properly and to record them systematically in the 
books of account. 
 

b. The accountants are facing, as identified above, a number of problems. The real problem of 
accountants is not relating to the non-availability of solution nor does it pertain to the difficulty 
of finding solution to the problem. But it is relating to the availability of a number of diverse 
solutions to each of few problems. As is known, for each of few major accounting problems, the 
accountants can be sure of finding not one solution but more than one diverse solution. The 
problem of accountants is, therefore, about the selection of best alternative solution to an 
accounting problem. The accounting principles serve as a guide in the selection of the best 
alternative solution where diverse accounting treatments exist. 
 

c. The demand from external parties (such as shareholders, suppliers, customers, financial 
institutions, employees and their unions, governments and their agencies, and the general public 
at large) for accounting information which present the financial position fairly and operating 
result of the entity as objectively as possible is another factor. These external parties use the 
accounting reports for evaluating the overall performance of the company as a pre-requisite for 
their decisions. The financial reports which provide the accounting information are, therefore, 
prepared on the basis of a set of assumptions, principles, concepts, rules, etc., which are assumed 
to be known to the users, and which have received their acceptance. Hence, the accounting 
principles are necessary for the purpose of ensuring the quality and utility of financial reports. 
 

d. The external parties also use these pieces of accounting information for the purpose of comparing 
the performance of one company with that of other companies either in the same industry or in 
other industries. For example, both ABC Company Limited and XYZ Company Limited are 
engaged in the production and sale of product ‘P’. In order to compare the profitability, liquidity, 
solvency, etc., of ABC Company Limited with that of XYZ Company Limited, both the 
companies should have used the same accounting methodology. Even this aspect requires the 
accounting principles. 

 The above are some of the important reasons which highlight the need for accounting 
principles. With this introduction, meaning of accounting principles is analyzed below. 

Meaning of Accounting Principles 
 The word ‘principle’ is derived from Latin word principium meaning ‘source’. ‘Fundamental 
belief’, ‘general truth’, ‘rule of action’, ‘rule of conduct’, ‘fundamental truth as a basis of reasoning’, 
‘general law as guide to action’, etc., are some of the views expressed by the experts as the meaning of 
‘principle’. The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) has defined ‘principle’ 
as a general law or rule adopted or pressed as a guide to action; a settled ground or basis of 
conduct or practice. A more descriptive meaning is provided by Eric L. Kohler (1978) who viewed 
‘principle’ as, a proposition asserted to be controlling in a given system or individual activity and 
having acceptance among members of a professional group deemed competent in a society; 
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growing art of observation, reason or experimental, a principle purports to be the best possible 
guide where a choice of alternative exists that will lead to the qualities in an end-product. If a 
principle is accepted without evidence or proof, it may be called an axiom, assumption or 
postulate. An agreed or commonly followed basis of outlook or activity; in the field of 
accounting; a rule or precept given formal recognition by professional group as a standard of 
observance and action. On financial statements, an exception calls for disclosure in financial 
terms of significant past and present departures from the governing standard, and, if to be 
continued, its possible future effect. 
 The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants has defined ‘accounting principles’ as, the 
body of doctrines commonly associated with the theory and procedure of accounting serving as 
an explanation of current practices and as a guide for selection of conventional or procedures 
where alternatives exist. An analysis of these views and/or definitions reveals some of the important 
features of accounting principles as summarized below. 
a. The accounting principles serve as the base for any action of the accountants. They guide the 

actions of the accountants as to how to account for a particular type of business transaction in the 
books of account. They also control the actions of the accountants as they are required to observe 
certain rules and as they are not allowed to account for the business transactions in any manner 
they wish to. 
 

b. These accounting principles have the substantive authoritative support. Normally, the stock 
exchange authorities play an important role in this regard as they have ‘the authority and 
responsibility to define accounting terms and to prescribe the forms and methods to be followed 
in financial reporting by the corporations whose stocks are listed on exchanges (Rufus Wixon, 
Walter G. Kell and Norton M. Bedford). In the United States of America (USA), the Securities 
and Exchange Commission (SEC) has delegated major portion of this authority to the 
professional accounting bodies, more particularly to the American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (AICPA). However, it (Securities and Exchange Commission) retains the right to 
overrule the Institute at its discretion. Anyhow, the principles should have the approval of stock 
exchange authorities (Securities and Exchange Board of India, SEBI in India) and other bodies 
including accounting bodies and other government agencies such as Company Law Board, 
Central Board of Direct Taxes (Internal Revenue Service in USA), Bureau of Industrial Costs 
and Prices, Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI), etc. 
 

c. As already identified, the work of the accountants is complicated by the presence of diverse 
accounting treatments for each of few major accounting problems. In this regard, the principles 
help the accountants in the selection of the best alternative out a number of possible alternatives. 
 

d. Once a particular accounting policy is adopted, it should be followed consistently year after year. 
Any change in the accounting policy or any deviation from the standard should be disclosed in 
the annual reports together with its effect on the items of financial statements. 

Accounting Principles, Practices, GAAPs, etc 
 It is obvious from the above that the accounting principles are in the form of guidelines and/ 
or rules which are used as standards for recording business transactions in the books of account and 
their fair presentation in the financial statements. Alternative terms such as Accounting Assumptions, 
Accounting Axioms, Accounting Concepts, Accounting Conventions, Accounting Postulates, 
Accounting Principles, Accounting Standards, etc., are also used for Accounting Principles. 
Surprisingly, one can find the use of both the ‘principles’ and ‘practices’ interchangeably in the 
accounting literature. The available literature states the words ‘practices’ and ‘principles’ were used 
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interchangeably in the report of a joint work of Committee of AICPA and the New York Stock 
Exchange (Sidney Davidson and Roman L. Weil). Harry Simons opines that, when reference is made 
to accounting principles, the term is not used to suggest natural laws of universal applicability but 
rather the body of standards that as of the time are considered to be good accounting practice. 
However, principles serve as the best possible guides (based on experience) to achieve the desired 
end-result. 
 Accounting principles have been developed over a period of time due to their imperativeness 
and usefulness. Principles are the outcome of experience of the concerned parties, business practices 
and customs, ideas and beliefs of users of annual reports, governmental agencies, stock exchange 
authorities, amendments to Laws, tax regulations, reason, etc. When a specific accounting problem 
crops up, the professionals work on the same and try to find a solution to the problem. This solution 
(i.e., accounting treatment) is thrown open for acceptance by the concerned competent authorities in 
the country. If it is accepted by the competent authorities, it becomes an accounting principle. Some 
authorities have, therefore, referred accounting principles as ‘distillation of experience’. Hence, it 
becomes an accepted accounting principle. The literature on the subject reveals that a Special 
Committee of AICPA on Auditing Procedures used the word ‘generally’ in 1939. One of the sentences 
of the report of this committee pertaining to accounting principles and its revised terminology reads 
as, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (Sidney Davidson and Roman L. 
Weil) without describing the importance of the change and addition. However, the dictionary meaning 
of the word ‘general’ refers to ‘many persons, cases or occasions prevalent’. On the basis of this, it 
may be said that the principle is judged on the basis of general applicability rather than universal 
applicability to the parties who prepare and use the annual reports.  

GAAPs – Historical Developments 
 One of the important objectives of Financial Accounting is to collate the data, analyze them 
properly, account for them systematically and report to the users as objectively as possible. 
‘Objectivity’ assumes importance as the users have the right to receive information which are free 
from intentional or deliberate bias and which are having comparable value. For this purpose, Financial 
Accounting relies on certain guidelines, rules, standards, etc., which constitute Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAPs). A number of institutions such as AICPA, Securities Exchange 
Commission, Financial Accounting Standards Board, etc., may undoubtedly be called instrumental in 
the development of accounting principles. An attempt is made here to present the important 
contributions of few bodies viz., American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, American 
Accounting Association, and Securities and Exchange Commission. 

I. American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA): The American Association of 
Public Accountants, established in 1889, became the American Institute of Accountants in 1916. This 
American Institute of Accountants became the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
(AICPA) in the year 1957.  

 
 AICPA is a professional organization of the certified public accountants practicing in USA. 
This institute viz., AICPA has been publishing its monthly journal called, ‘Journal of Accountancy’ 
since 1905. It made an early attempt to establish some fundamental standards. The American Institute 
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of Accountants constituted a committee which worked with the New York Stock Exchange between 
1932 and 1934 to improve corporate reporting. The committee specified the following five principles 
(Kenneth S. Most). 
a. Income accounts should not include the unrealized profit – realization being the consequence of 

an act of sale. 
 

b. Capital surplus (reserves) should not be used for revenue items of charge. 
 

c. Earned surplus (revenue surplus) of a subsidiary created prior to acquisition should not be 
considered as part of the consolidated earned surplus of the parent. 
 

d. Dividends paid by a corporate to itself in respect of holdings of its own stock should not be 
credited to income. 
 

e. Amounts receivable from officers, employees and affiliated companies should be shown 
separately. 

 With the objective of developing guidelines for corporate reporting, the Institute set up few 
committees and one such committee was the Committee on Accounting Procedure in 1930s. This 
committee laid emphasis on the decisions of adhoc nature, and made few pronouncements in the form 
of guidelines for improving the quality of corporate reporting. Since these pronouncements were 
based on research studies, they were named as Accounting Research Bulletins (ARBs). Between 1939 
and 1953, this committee published 42 Accounting Research Bulletins and most of these bulletins 
were consolidated into Accounting Research Bulletin – 43. Another eight (8) bulletins were issued 
during the next six years (i.e., between 1953 and 1958) making the total number of Accounting 
Research Bulletins to 51 as presented below (Table – 1.1).  

Table – 1.1: Accounting Research Bulletins developed by the Committee on Accounting 
Procedure, AICPA, 1939-58 

ARB 
No. Title of the Accounting Research Bulletin Issued in 

1 General Introduction and Rules formerly adopted   September 1939  
2 Unamortized Discount and Redemption Premium on Bonds 

Refunded   September 1939  
3 Quasi-Reorganization or Corporate Readjustment - Amplification of 

Institute Rule No. 2 of 1934   September 1939  
4 Foreign Operations and Foreign Exchange   December 1939  
5 Depreciation or Appreciation   April 1940  
6 Comparative Statements   April 1940  
7 Reports of Committee on Terminology   November 1940  
8 Combined Statement of Income and Earned Surplus   February 1941  
9 Report of Committee on Terminology   May 1941  

10 Real and Personal Property Taxes   June 1941  
11 Corporate Accounting for Ordinary Stock Dividends   September 1941  
11 Accounting for Stock Dividends and Stock Split-ups (revised)   November 1952  
12 Report of Committee on Terminology   September 1941  
13 Accounting for Special Reserves arising out of the War   January 1942  
13 Limitation of Scope of Special War Reserves (addendum)   July 1951  
14 Accounting for United States Treasury Tax Notes   January 1942  
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15 Renegotiation of War Contracts  September 1942  
16 Report of Committee on Terminology   October 1942  
17 Post-War Refund of Excess-Profits Tax   December 1942  
18 Unamortized Discount and Redemption Premium on Bonds Refunded 

(Supplement)   December 1942  
19 Accounting under Cost-plus-Fixed-Fee Contracts   December 1942  
20 Report of Committee on Terminology   November 1942  
21 Renegotiation of War Contracts (supplement)   December 1943  
22 Report of Committee on Terminology   May 1944  
23 Accounting for Income Taxes   December 1944  
24 Accounting for Intangible Assets   December 1944  
25 Accounting for Terminated War Contracts   April 1945  
26 Accounting for the use of Special War Reserves   October 1946  
26 Limitation of Scope of Special War Reserves (addendum)   July 1951  
27 Emergency Facilities   November 1946  
28 Accounting Treatment of General Purpose Contingency Reserves   July 1947  
29 Inventory Pricing   July 1947 
30 Current Assets and Current Liabilities; Working Capital   August 1947  
31 Inventory Reserves   October 1947  
32 Income and Earned Surplus   December 1947  
33 Depreciation and High Costs   December 1947  
34 Recommendation of Committee on Terminology; Use of term 

"Reserve"   October 1948  
35 Presentation of Income and earned Surplus   October 1948  
36 Pension Plans; Accounting for Annuity Costs based on past Services   November 1948  
37 Accounting for Compensation in the form of Stock Options   November 1948  
37 Accounting for Compensation involved in Stock Option and Stock 

Purchase Plans (revised)   January 1953  
38 Disclosure of Long-Term Leases in Financial Statements of Lessees   October 1949  
39 Recommendation of Subcommittee on Terminology; Discontinuance 

of the Use of the term "Surplus"   October 1949  
40 Business Combinations   September 1950  
41 Presentation of Income and Earned Surplus (Supplement to Bulletin 

No. 35)   July 1951  
42 Emergency Facilities - Depreciation, Amortization, and Income 

Taxes   November 1952  
43 Restatement and Revision of Accounting Research Bulletins   1953 
44 Declining-Balance Depreciation   October 1954  
44 Declining-Balance Depreciation (supersedes Accounting Research 

Bulletin No. 44 issued in October 1954) (revised)   July 1958  
45 Long-term Construction-type Contracts   October 1955  
46 Discontinuance of Dating Earned Surplus   February 1956  
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47 Accounting for Costs of Pension Plans   September 1956  
48 Business Combinations (supersedes chapter 7(c) of Accounting 

Research Bulletin No. 43)   January 1957  
49 Earnings per Share   April 1958  
50 Contingencies   October 1958  
51 Consolidated Financial Statements  August 1959  

Source: Compiled with the help of the material retrieved on 22nd February,  2013 from http://en. 
wikipedia. org/ wiki/Accounting_Research_Bulletins  

 During the same period, a sub-committee of Committee on Accounting Procedure worked on 
accounting terminologies. In the year 1953, a separate bulletin on accounting terminology, based on 
eight reports of Committee on Terminology, included in Accounting Research Bulletin – 43, was 
issued as ‘Accounting Terminology Bulletin No. 1 – Review and Resume’. During the next six years 
(i.e., between 1953 and 1958), the following three additional terminology bulletins were issued. 
a. Accounting Terminology Bulletin No. 2 – Proceeds, Revenue, Income, Profit and Earnings 

(March 1955), 
 

b. Accounting Terminology Bulletin No. 3 – Book Value (August 1956) and  
c. Accounting Terminology Bulletin No. 4 – Cost, Expense and Loss (July 1957).  

 But all was not well with the working of the Committee on Accounting Procedure. In some 
cases, the conclusions drawn in the newly published bulletins were not consistent with that of the 
earlier bulletins. Further, they were criticized on the grounds of lack of strong theoretical foundation, 
uniformity and adequate research. Besides, lack of binding authority over AICPA’s membership 
reduced the influence of, and compliance with, these bulletins. Therefore, the Accounting Research 
Bulletins were discontinued with the dissolution of the Committee in 1959 based on the 
recommendation of Special Committee on Research Programme and these bulletins were superseded 
by Accounting Standards Codification (ASC). As a result of all these, AICPA constituted two bodies 
in 1959 in place of Committee on Accounting Procedure viz., Accounting Research Division and 
Accounting Principles Board.  
 Accounting Research Division undertook a number of research projects and the results were 
published in a series of Accounting Research Studies. It has published the following (15) accounting 
research studies (Table – 1.2). 
Table – 1.2: Accounting Research Studies published by Accounting Research Division, AICPA 
ARS 
No. Title of the Accounting Research Studies Year of 

Issue 
1 The Basic Postulates of Accounting (Moonitz Maurice)  1961 
2 Cash Flow Analysis and the Funds Statement (Perry Mason) 1961 
3 A Tentative Set of Broad Accounting Principles for Business Enterprises 

(Sprouce and Moonitz) 1962 
4 Reporting of Leases in Financial Statements (John H. Myers) 1962 
5 A Critical Study of Accounting for Business Combinations (Arthur R. Wyatt) 1963 
6 Reporting the Financial Effects of Price-Level Changes (Staff of Research 

Division) 1963 
7 Inventory of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles for Business 

Enterprises (Paul Grady)   1965 
8 Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans (Earnest L. Hicks) 1965 
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9 Inter-period allocation of Corporate Income Taxes (Homer A. Black) 1966 
10 Accounting for Goodwill (George R. Catlett and Norman O. Olson) 1968 
11 Financial Reporting in the Extractive Industries (Robert R. Field) 1970 
12  Reporting Foreign Operations of US Companies in US Dollars (Leonard 

Lorensen) 1972 
13 The Accounting basis of Inventories (Horace G. Barden) 1973 
14 Accounting for Research and Development Expenditures (Oscar S. Gellein and 

Maurice S. Newman) 1973 
15  Stockholders’ Equity (Beatrice Melcher) 1973 

 Another important body established by AICPA in 1959, as already mentioned, was the 
Accounting Principles Board and this Board was assigned with the responsibility of issuing 
authoritative opinions on problems relating to the generally accepted accounting principles. Between 
1959 and 1973, the Board issued 31 opinions and majority of these opinions were based on 
comprehensive research work, circulation of exposure drafts among the concerned and the 
incorporation of valid criticisms and suggestion received into the exposure drafts (Table – 1.3).  

Table – 1.3: Opinions issued by Accounting Principles Board, AICPA, 1959-73 
APB 

Opinion 
No. 

Title of the APB’s Opinion Issued in 

1 New Depreciation Guidelines and Rules   November 1962 
2 Accounting for the Investment Credit December 1962 
3 The Statement of Sources and Application of Funds   October 1963 
4 Accounting for the Investment Credit   March 1964 
5 Reporting of Leases in Financial Statements of Lessee   September 1964 
6 Status of Accounting Research Bulletins  October 1965 
7 Accounting for Leases in Financial Statements of Lessors   May 1966 
8 Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans   November 1966 
9 Reporting the Results of Operations   December 1966 

10 Omnibus Opinion - 1966   December 1966 
11 Accounting for Income Taxes   December 1967 
12 Omnibus Opinion - 1967   December 1967 
13 Amending Para. 6 of APB Opinion No. 9, Application to 

Commercial Banks  March 1969 
14 Accounting for Convertible Debt and Debt issued with Stock 

Purchase Warrants   March 1969 
15 Earnings per Share   May 1969 
16 Business Combinations   August 1970 
17 Intangible Assets   August1970 
18 The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common 

Stock   March 1971 
19 Reporting Changes in Financial Position   March 1971 
20 Accounting Changes   July 1971 
21 Interest on Receivables and Payables   August 1971 
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22 Disclosure of Accounting Policies   April 1972 
23 Accounting for Income Taxes - Special Areas   April 1972 
24 Accounting for Income Taxes - Investments in Common Stock 

Accounted for by the Equity Method (Other than Subsidiaries and 
Corporate Joint Ventures)  April 1972 

25 Accounting for Stock issued to Employees   October 1972 
26 Early Extinguishment of Debt   October 1972 
27 Accounting for Lease Transactions by Manufacturer or Dealer 

Lessors  November 1972 
28 Interim Financial Reporting   May 1973 
29 Accounting for Non-monetary Transactions   May 1973 
30 Reporting the Results of Operations - Reporting the Effects of 

Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual 
and Infrequently occurring Events and Transactions   June 1973 

31 Disclosure of Lease Commitments by Lessees   June 1973 

 The Board was also authorized to issue the statements which, of course, failed to carry the 
authority as of Opinions. The Board used to issue the statements when it felt that it did not have 
adequate proof to suggest a definite action but believed that certain aspects relating to the accounting 
reports should be brought to the attention of accountants. The statements were, therefore, considered 
as tentative opinions. In total, the Board issued four statements. Out of these four statements, the first 
statement was on the response to Accounting Research Studies Nos. 1 and 3. The other statements are 
as follows (Table – 1.4). 

Table – 1.4: Statements issued by Accounting Principles Board, AICPA 
APB 

Statement 
No. 

Title of the APB’s Statement Issued in 

1 Response to Accounting Research Studies Nos. 1 and 3  
2 Disclosure of Supplemental Financial Information by Diversified 

Companies September 1967 
3 Financial Statements restated for General Price-Level Changes June 1969 
4 Basic Concepts and Accounting Principles underlying Financial 

Statements of Business Enterprises October 1970 

 However, the work of the Accounting Principles Board was criticized on the same lines as in 
the case of Committee on Accounting Procedure. Besides, the methods suggested by the Accounting 
Principles Board (APB) were criticized even by the Securities Exchange Commission (e.g., APB’s 
Opinion No. 2 on Accounting for Investment Credit) and the Internal Revenue Service (e.g., APB’s 
Opinion No. 11 on Accounting for Income Taxes) as there were conflicts with the procedure laid 
down by the Securities Exchange Commission and the Internal Revenue Service. Consequently, these 
Opinions were to be abandoned by the Accounting Principles Board. However, consequent to this type 
of mounting criticisms, the AICPA constituted two important committees. 
 The first committee viz., The Study Group on Establishment of Accounting Principles was 
chaired by Francis M Wheat. This Committee was primarily asked to examine the functioning of the 
Accounting Principles Board and also as to how to improve its functioning. The Committee submitted 
its report on 9th March, 1972. In its report, the Committee recommended a new structure for framing 
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accounting rules and standards. The recommendations of Wheat Committee resulted in the 
replacement of Accounting Principles Board by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB).  
 Financial Accounting Standards Board is the official advocate of accounting profession in the 
private sector. It issues Statements of Financial Accounting Standards. Rules of conduct of AICPA 
require its members to accept the Statements issued by FASB as authoritative. FASB has issued many 
Standards and Interpretations. However, for the purpose of developing the Standards/Statements, the 
Board follows a detailed procedure which involves the following steps. 
a. Identification of problem area. 

 

b. Appointment of knowledgeable experts as members of the task force to establish the standard. 
 

c. Preparation of ‘Discussion Memorandum’. It includes the issues as perceived by the task force 
and the solutions found in practice and also the recommended solution by the members. 
 

d. Holding public meetings to hear what the interested parties have to say. 
 

e. Issue of Exposure Draft of the proposed Standard. 
 

f. Incorporation of the suggestions received from others on the Exposure Draft, if necessary. 
 

g. Promulgation of ‘Statement of Financial Accounting Standard’. 
 Another committee established by AICPA was ‘The Study Group on the Objectives of 
Financial Statements’ and it was chaired by Robert M. Trueblood. The committee was asked to study 
the manner in which the objectives of financial statements may be refined. In order to enable the users 
(of financial statements) to take the decisions on the basis of financial statements, the committee felt 
that the financial statements should ensure the following. 
a. Provide information useful for making economic decisions. 

 

b. Serve primarily those users who have limited authority or resources to obtain information and 
who rely on financial statements as their principal source of information about the economic 
activities of an enterprise. 
 

c. Provide information useful to investors and creditors for predicting, comparing and evaluating 
potential cash flows in terms of amount, timing and related uncertainty. 
 

d. Provide users with information for predicting, comparing and evaluating earning power of the 
enterprise. 
 

e. Supply information useful in judging the ability of management to utilize the resources of the 
enterprise effectively in achieving the primary corporate objectives/goals. 
 

f. Provide factual and interpretative information about the transactions and other events which are 
useful for predicting, comparing and evaluating the earning power of the enterprise. Basic 
underlying assumptions with respect to matters subject to interpretation, evaluation, prediction or 
estimation should also be disclosed. 

II. American Accounting Association (AAA): The American Association of University Instructors 
in Accounting was formed in 1918. Since 1935, it became the American Accounting Association. The 
Association is publishing a quarterly journal, Accounting Review. One of the objectives of the 
Association is the development of basic accounting principles and standards providing the framework 
for corporate reporting. In the year 1936, it published a work entitled, A Tentative Statement of 
Accounting Principles underlying Corporate Financial Statement. This has undergone few 
revisions as detailed below (Table – 1.5). 
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Table – 1.5: A Tentative Statement of Accounting Principles underlying Corporate Financial 
Statements – Revisions 

Year Revisions Made 
1941 Omission of words, A Tentative Statement 
1948 Revision of the title as, Accounting Concepts and Standards underlying 

Corporate Financial Statements 
1950-54 Preparation and publication of eight supplementary statements either clarifying or 

expanding the 1948 statement. 
1957 Revision of the title as, Accounting and Reporting Standard for Corporate 

Financial Statements 
1957-64 Publication of five supplemental statements on 1957 revised statement 

Other important works of the Association are as follows. 
a. Paton and Littleton, An Introduction to Corporate Accounting Standards, American 

Accounting Association, 1940. 
 

b. Louis Goldberg, An Inquiry into the Nature of Accounting, American Accounting 
Association, 1964 (Monograph No. 7). 
 

c. R. C. Jones, Price-Level Changes and Financial Statements – Case Studies of four 
Companies, American Accounting Association, 1955. 
 

d. Committee on Development of Statement of Basic Accounting Theory, A Statement of Basic 
Accounting Theory, (popularly known as, ASOBAT). This committee felt that an accounting 
information should possess four important features viz., relevancy, verifiability, freedom from 
bias and quantifiability. 

III. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC): The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) 
was created by an Act of Congress in 1934 and this Commission aims at ensuring full and fair 
disclosure of all material facts by the companies whose securities have been listed in SEC. Though the 
Commission has the authority to prescribe accounting and reporting requirements for the listed 
companies, it has informally delegated much of its rule-making power to the accounting bodies 
keeping with it the power to interfere at any point of time and also its final say. It is one of the 
sources/authorities from which (a procedure or a method or) a principle has to receive ‘substantial 
authoritative support’. 
 Other important organizations/institutions which have contributed substantially for the 
development of generally accepted accounting principles are, Financial Executives Institute (formerly 
called, Controllers’ Institute), Cost Accounting Standards Board (established in 1970 by an Act of 
Congress), National Association of Accountants (formerly called, National Association of Cost 
Accountants established in 1919), Financial Analysts Federation, etc. 

Structure of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
 For the purpose of analyzing and recording various business transactions, the accountants 
should have a complete knowledge about the fundamental principles of Accounting. There are a 
number of accounting principles and they are classified into two or more categories using one or the 
other variable as the base. The Accounting Principles Board (in its Statement No. 4 issued in October 
1970) pointed out that though all accounting principles and concepts are basic, some are more basic 
than others. It has, therefore, classified the accounting principles and concepts into two broad 
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categories which are further categorized into few sub-groups as presented below (Harry Simons, 
1977). 

 
Figure – 1.1: Accounting Principles and Concepts 

 Paton and Littleton have identified the following as the basic concepts (Rufus Wixon, 1970). 
They suggested the use of price aggregate in place of cost (Figure – 1.2). 

 
Figure – 1.2: Basic Accounting Concepts 
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 In addition to the above, Grady has identified the following as the accounting concepts (Rufus 
Wixon, 1970). 

 
Figure – 1.3: Accounting Concepts 

 Bhattacharya and John Dearden have classified the accounting concepts into Balance Sheet 
Concepts and Income Statement Concepts as presented below (Figure – 1.4). 

 
Figure – 1.4: Basic Accounting Concepts 

 J. R. Monga, Girish Ahuja and Ashok Sehgal (1990) have classified the generally accepted 
accounting principles into three categories as presented below (Figure – 1.5). 
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Figure – 1.5: Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

 It is obvious from the above that the concepts, conventions, assumptions, etc., are hardly 
distinguished by the experts. Another specific example may be used here to highlight this point. 
Going Concern or Continuity is viewed as, 
a. A concept by Anthony and Reece, 
b. A convention by Yorston, Smith and Brown, 
c. An assumption by Myer, 
d. A postulate by Hendriksen, and as 
e. A fundamental accounting assumption by the International Accounting Standards Committee, 

IASC (now, International Accounting Standards Board, IASB). 
 Further, it is a difficult task to identify all the constituent parts of generally accepted 
accounting principles. This technical term covers much territory. It includes both broad concepts 
or guidelines and detailed practices. It includes all conventions, rules and procedures that 
together make up accepted accounting practices at any given time (Charles T. Horngren, 1981). 
However, in this work, the generally accepted accounting principles are analyzed under the heads 
assumptions, concepts, principles, conventions and rules as presented below (Figure – 1.6) followed 
by a detailed analysis. 
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Figure – 1.6: Structure of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

 Before analyzing the different concepts, conventions, etc, it is necessary to understand the 
meaning of the terms assumptions, concepts, conventions, etc. 

Accounting Assumptions, Concepts, Conventions and Rules 
 Kohler (1978) has defined the term assumption as a premise; statement accepted without 
proof, sometimes unconsciously, as a basis for a line of reasoning or course of action, either 
because its applicability is deemed to be self-evident, or because its implications appear to 
justify exploration. What Kohler has said generally holds good in Accounting. It is because of the 
reason that there are certain basic or fundamental accounting assumptions which are assumed by the 
users of reports to have been followed by the accountants while preparing the financial reports. 
Otherwise, it is the responsibility of the accountants (i.e., companies) to disclose the same in the 
financial reports. Further, the accountants rely upon certain assumptions which are very basic for the 
purpose of analysis and recording of business transactions. 
 Concepts are essential ideas which permit the identification and classification of 
phenomena or other ideas (Sidney Davidson and Roman L. Weil, 1977). For instance, one should 
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have an idea of an asset in order to decide whether a particular cost item should be capitalized or 
expensed. If one knows what revenue expense is and what capital expenditure is, he can classify the 
items of costs (which a company has incurred during an accounting period) into capital expenditure 
and revenue expenses. It is, therefore, necessary that a concept must state all that the given class 
includes and all that it excludes; all that it is, and all that it is not (Sidney Davidson and Roman L. 
Weil, 1977). Sidney Davidson and Roman L. Weil have classified the concepts into few groups based 
on two variables – one, on the basis of their practicality into ideal concepts and real concepts; and two, 
on the basis of their origin into native concepts and borrowed concepts. An ideal concept is one 
which has been established for the purpose of theoretical discussion and which does not necessarily 
bear any direct relationship with the real world. For example, lawyers’ prudent man, economists’ 
economic man, accountants’ true and fair view, etc. A real concept represents the phenomena or 
ideas as exist in the real world and which can be tested against the actual observable things. Though 
the ideal concepts are useful from the point of view of accountants’ interest in the development of 
theory, most of the concepts are real concepts in the present Accounting. A native concept is one 
which is indigenous to the field itself. On the other hand, a borrowed concept is taken from another 
discipline but used within the field. For instance, the concept of opportunity cost is borrowed from 
Economics and used widely in Accounting. 
 A convention refers to a practice followed by the accountants based on general consent or 
general agreement between/among parties. The agreement may be either expressed or implied. 
Therefore, accounting conventions are methods of procedure which are recognized as conventional or 
common for Accounting. They imply some kind of traditions followed for long. Rules are the host of 
procedures and techniques used by accountants in their day-to-day activities (Ian Tilley). The rules 
prescribe the manner in which a particular transaction should be accounted in the books of account. 
Hence, the persons who were to follow rules have no discretion or have less discretion in their 
application. 
 In the light of the above introductory analysis, a detailed analysis of accounting principles, 
concepts, etc., is made below. 

Business Entity Concept 
 In the earlier days of business chronicle, businessmen used to keep only one set of accounts 
for both the business activities and the personal activities. Consequently, it was not possible to 
ascertain the result of the business as the business transactions were clubbed with the personal 
transactions. Further, all transactions were analyzed and recorded from the point of view of the owner. 
Hence, the proprietor was placed at the centre of the accounting work. 
 But with the advent of giant joint stock companies wherein a large number of persons/ 
institutions scattered throughout the world and with different interest started associated with the 
companies, the need for keeping a separate set of books of account exclusively for business 
transactions was realized. Further, the need for having a separate management team was also realized 
as all persons who have contributed to the capital of the company could not be accommodated in the 
management team due to their large number (and their scattering at distant places). Therefore, a 
separate managerial team was created and it is held responsible for the profitable application of 
resources entrusted to them by the owners. Consequently, many organizations - whether they are sole-
trading concerns, firms or companies - are considered by all as having their own entities distinct from 
their owners. The business organizations are recognized by their names but not by their owners. They 
are considered and treated on par with natural persons. A few illustrations enable to understand this 
aspect. 
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a. Each company maintains proper books of account and these books consider all business 
transactions as the transactions of the company.  

b. The expenses relating to business are considered as the expenses incurred by the company but 
not by the owners. 

c. The revenue earned through the sale of goods and services is considered as the revenue to the 
company but not to the owners.  

d. The assets acquired are treated as the assets of the company and not of the proprietors.  
e. Loans raised are the liabilities of the company and not of the owners. 

 From the above, it is obvious that the business transactions are recorded in separate books of 
account and the business transactions are not combined with the personal transactions. Of course, all 
transactions of the company are carried out by the personnel who transact on behalf of the company 
and in the name of the company. Thus, it may be said that the emphasis has shifted from the 
proprietor to the business as the centre of Accounting. All transactions are analyzed from the point 
of view of the company. That means, the business undertakings exist in their own name and right. It is 
because of this reason that even the owners who have contributed capital are considered as creditors of 
the company to the extent of their contribution to the capital. In the absence of this distinction 
(between company and the owners), accurate assessment of results and position of the undertaking is 
not possible as the affairs of the firm are mixed up with the private affairs of the owners. Amount of 
profit earned, value of assets held and the amount of liabilities of X Company cannot be computed 
when the transactions of X Company are mixed with the personal transactions of its owners.  
 In brief, business firm is a distinct entity owning assets and is responsible for the liabilities 
including the capital contributed into the firm by its proprietors. All transactions relating to the 
business are recorded in the books of account of the business enterprise. The result of business 
activities of business entity is, therefore, related to the business entity itself.  
 The corporate form of business organizations are recognized even by the law as having legal 
entities distinct from their owners since the historical legal decision in England in the case of Salomon vs 
Salomon & Co in 1897. But the confusion still prevails in the case of sole-trading concerns and partnership 
firms as this legal status has not been extended to these businesses also. It, therefore, calls for the careful 
separation of business transactions from the personal or family transactions so that the operating results of 
the business entities are, in no way, affected. Hence, the point which is obvious from this is that both the 
accounting entity and legal entity do not necessarily co-exist.  
 That means, the business organization and its owners are considered as two separately 
identifiable parties. The business organization stands apart from its owners and also from other 
organizations as a separate economic unit or entity. It has its own existence distinct from its owners. 
This is necessary to record the transactions of the business organizations separately. And this helps the 
objective assessment of true financial positions of the business organization. It may be noted here that 
each business entity is taxed separately and the entity concept facilitates this process. Otherwise, the 
records of multiple entities and also that of owners’ personal transactions would be intermingled 
making it very difficult to discern the financial results and position of a single business organization. 
Hence, this concept holds the business organization to be an institution in its own right separate and 
distinct from the parties who provide funds to it.  
 Another important development in the corporate sector in the recent years is the 
divisionalization of large scale organizations for the purpose of efficient and effective management. 
One can find the large scale organizations wherein they are divided into a number of divisions or 
departments or sections. Further, the entity concept has been extended to each division of an enterprise 
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wherein each division is considered as a distinct accounting unit or accounting entity and is made 
responsible for the conduct of its operations. 

Going Concern Concept or Continuity or Perpetuity or Perpetual Existence  
 There are a very few organizations which have been established either for a particular 
objective or for a specific period. If an enterprise has been established for a specific task, then there is 
every reason to believe that this company is going to be liquidated soon after the completion of that 
task. The history of corporate sector reveals that, initially, there were a number of this type of venture 
businesses. An undertaking may also be established for a particular period. Even in this case, one can 
assume that the undertaking will be liquidated soon after the stipulated period.  
 At present, one can find a very few number of the above types of organizations. And almost 
all organizations, established a number of years ago, have been continuing their activities and in all 
probabilities, they continue to carry on their business activities in future also. This is because of the 
reason that the company has no intention of winding up its activities either instantaneously or in the 
near future. Individually, owners have a very little say in this regard. Even if they collectively decide, 
a number of formalities should be met. Liquidating an organization is, therefore, not an easy task. 
Though the establishment of an undertaking is in the hands of promoters, its liquidation is not in their 
hands as the law of the land dictates the terms and conditions. Further, the continuity of an 
organization does not depend upon the decision of one or the other shareholder as the company is 
having its own separate existence distinct from its owners. And it should be noted here that the 
business concerns are not thinking of winding up their business. Further, there is no evidence to show 
that the company is going to liquidate (e.g., venture-type business or business for a fixed period). 
Since there is no evidence to the contrary, the business concerns should be viewed as remaining in 
business for a number of years in future. This is because of the reason that there is no other alternative 
except assuming an organization as continuing its operation in future also.  
 The International Accounting Standards Board in its International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) requires the companies to prepare their financial statements as going concerns 
unless the management intends to liquidate or has no other alternative but to liquidate. If the entity has 
history of profitable operation and ready access to financial resources, then it should be considered as 
going concern. On the other hand, if it (i.e., entity) does not have history of profitable operation and 
ready access to financial resources, then it is necessary to undertake a detailed analysis to ascertain 
whether it is a going concern or not. The detailed analysis should be based on the assessment for the 
next 12 months from the Balance Sheet date on (a) debt repayment schedule, (b) potential refinancing 
resources, (c) current and expected profitability, etc. If the outcome of this detailed analysis is 
positive, then the firm should be considered as going concern. 
 The business organizations are, therefore, assumed to be going concerns continuing their 
operating activities for the foreseeable future. Further, it is assumed that the organizations have neither 
the intention nor the necessity of liquidating their activities. Besides, it is also presumed that the 
business concerns continue their activities, more or less, in the same form and with the same objective. 
That means, the organizations are not having the idea of curtailing the scale of operation substantially 
nor to change their primary objective. A business organization is, therefore, presumed to continue to 
operate for an indefinitely long period in the future unless there is evidence to the contrary.  
 Therefore, one of the important features of corporate form of business organizations is their 
perpetual existence till such time as they are legally liquidated. This assumption has led to the 
emergence of two important accounting features. They are (1) deferal of expenses and (2) cost-based 
accounting measurement.       
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(1) Deferal of Expenses: One of the important features that emerged due to the continuity in the 
business operation is the deferal and capitalization of some of the costs. When some expenses are 
incurred by the company and when the company is-hopeful of reaping the benefits out of these 
expenses over a number of years (including the year in which the expenses were incurred), it is 
necessary to capitalize these expenses so that they may be amortized over a period of time during 
which the company enjoys the benefits of these expenses. That means, the expenses incurred during 
the current year are charged to more than one accounting year instead of charging to the current year. 
An illustration may be taken to understand this point clearly.  
 Assume that an organization has incurred ` 1 crore during 2012-13 accounting year on 
research and development activities which resulted in the development of a new product. Further 
assume that the organization enjoys the market for this new product for the next five years including 
2012-13. It is, therefore, rational to capitalize ` 1 crore and amortize the same over a period of five 
years at the rate of ` 20 lakh a year.  
a. In the above case, the period of five years within which ` 1 crore should be amortized is 

independent of the life of the organization. This is because, the company continues its operation 
for more than five years in future. The amortization period has, therefore, been determined solely 
on the basis of the estimated useful life of the expenditure during which the company derives the 
benefits.  

b. On the other hand, in the absence of this assumption (viz., the organization continues to operate 
for an indefinitely long period), the treatment would have been a different one. Suppose, the 
company is going to be liquidated at the end of the second year, then ` 1 crore research and 
development expenditure would have been amortized over a period of next two years at ` 50 
lakh a year. If the company intends to wind up its activities by the end of this accounting year 
2012-13, the company cannot defer these expenses as the company will not exist after 31st 
March, 2013. Therefore, recovery of ` l crore cannot be postponed.  

 What is to be noted here is that the life of the company exceeds the useful life of the research 
arid development expenses, and therefore, the amortization period is determined by considering only 
the useful life of the research and development costs. And the deferal of expenses is justified on two 
grounds.  
a. One, because of this expenditure, the company is able to produce the new product not only 

during 2012-13 but also during the next four years.  
b. Two, recovery is postponed on the hope of recovering the same in future as the company 

continues to operate in future.  
 It is because of these reasons that the companies started capitalizing a part of their costs 
which possess the features of assets. Hence, it can be said that the process of capitalization of 
expenses and amortization of the same over a period of time is the outcome of continuity or going 
concern concept.  

(2) Cost-based Accounting Measurement: The second important accounting feature that emerged 
due to the continuity concept is the cost-based accounting measures rather than realizable values. As is 
known, the balance sheet comprises of a number of assets at their acquisition costs. In the same way, 
the income statement comprises of only such portions of costs as are applicable to the current year's 
operations. The reason is, these assets have been acquired by the company with the objective of using 
them in their manufacturing and sales activities. They have not been acquired for the purpose of 
(re)sale. Therefore, measuring and recording the assets at their forced liquidation prices (and also the 
liabilities at what should be paid to discharge them) in the balance sheet at the end of various 
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accounting periods may not be relevant and logical. Hence, the assets are recorded in the balance sheet 
at their acquisition costs. Of course, these assets are depreciated systematically but without 
considering their realizable values or replacement values. In the absence of this assumption (viz., 
continuity) and the accounting period concept, the accountant would have to assess (every time he 
prepares the financial statements) what the business is currently worth to the buyer. This exercise 
would have made the accounting exercise more difficult, complex and subjective valuation. This 
assumption, therefore, led to the emergence of another accounting feature of recording the assets at 
their acquisition costs but not at their realizable values as the assets were acquired not for resale but 
for using them in the business.  
 Suppose there are indications (such as the company incurring cash loss for the last five years 
on a continual basis, financial institutions refusing to renew the existing loans and reluctant to 
sanction fresh loans, general public not responding to the company's issue of shares and debentures, 
inadequate and continuously declining demand for the product, etc) that the company is going to wind 
up its activities. Then one should not assume that the company continues to carry on its operating 
activities for a number of years in the future. In this situation, it should be assumed that the company 
will be, liquidated and therefore, the accounts should be prepared considering the present realizable 
values of the assets and the amount to be paid, at present, to the lenders to discharge the company's 
liabilities towards these parties.  

Money Measurement or Monetary Unit Concept  
 In the ancient period, people were collecting the eatables from the forests whenever they felt 
hungry. After some time, they realized that the eatables were not available throughout the year but 
only during a particular season. Consequently, they started collecting more and keeping some eatables 
for future consumption. Gradually, the people started exchanging eatables each other leading to the 
development of barter system. The difficulties of barter system led to the practice of using some metal 
pieces as the medium of measurement. Finally, the people started using money as the measurement 
unit.  
 One of the important aspects of Accounting is the computation of profit earned during the 
year and also the ascertainment of assets and liabilities on a particular day. In order to ascertain the 
amount of profit, it is necessary to deduct the cost of all input factors consumed during the year from 
the revenue earned. Hence, both the input factors consumed and the goods sold should be expressed in 
terms of money. In the same way, to find the value of assets held by the company and its liability, it is 
necessary to express all these in terms of money. Otherwise, it is not possible to assess the profit, 
assets and liabilities as the measuring units differ from one item to another. To put it differently, in the 
absence of the money-measurement concept, it is almost impossible to add up the different assets as 
the organizations deal with heterogeneous items expressed in different measuring units. For instance, 
assume that ABC Company owns the following.  

Assets of ABC Company 
Assets Quantity 

Land  5,250 sq-ft 
Cash  ` 15,00,000 
Crushing machines 12 machines 
Lubricant oil 1,200 litres 
Raw material M 5,000 kgs 

Total  ? 
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 One cannot be added with another as the measuring unit differs from one asset to another. 
This problem can be resolved by adding the monetary equivalents of assets expressed in terms of 
money rather than in any other physical units. The above assets may, therefore, be restated as below.  

Assets of ABC Company 

Assets Amount  
(`) 

Land (5,250 square-feet at ` 2,000 per sq. ft) 1,05,00,000 
Cash  15,00,000 
Crushing machines (12 machines × ` 5,00,000) 60,00,000 
Lubricant oil (1,200 litres × ` 20 per litre) 24,000 
Raw material M (5,000 kgs × ` 250 per kg) 12,50,000 

Total  1,92,74,000 

 Hence, money is accepted as a common measuring unit in Accounting. It enables to record 
and collate dissimilar transactions in the books of account. All business transactions which can be 
expressed in monetary terms are recorded in the books of account in terms of money. Of course, these 
monetary records or statements are often supplemented by other information. For instance, ABC 
Company purchased a machine for a price of ` 5 lakh on 5th February, 2014 from XYZ Company. 
This information should be reported in the financial reports. The point to be noted here is that the 
transaction between buyer, ABC Company, and the seller, XYZ Company, is expressed in terms of 
money viz., ` 5 lakh. In other words, the machine is expressed in terms of money. Besides this 
monetary information, the annual reports may also provide non-financial information such as the 
model, company, imported content, etc. However, this concept suffers from two important 
shortcomings. They pertain to the area of application and the instability in the purchasing power of 
money.  
a. The scope of this accounting concept is restricted to the money-based recording and excludes the 

non-monetary facts or attributes which cannot accurately be expressed in terms of monetary 
units. This excludes the events which cannot precisely be valued in monetary unit even if they 
are very important. Examples are, quality of the product, quality of the competitor's product, 
competitor's strategy, labour relations, efficiency of managerial personnel, attitude of employees, 
etc. These aspects, attributes, events, etc., cannot accurately be measured in terms of money. In 
other words, the effects of these qualitative aspects cannot be reduced to, or measured in terms 
of, money. At the same time, the importance of these factors on the performance of an 
organization should not be disregarded.  
Though the above criticism is true, one should not forget the fact that even these qualitative 
factors are measured indirectly in Accounting. Employer-employee relationship which is an 
example to qualitative factor may be used to understand this point. If the relationship is good and 
cordial, there is no much waste of labour time resulting in the decrease in idle time and overtime, 
and their costs. Further, there may be a reduction in the material loss resulting in the increased 
material productivity. This reduces the material cost per unit of output. On the other hand, if the 
relationship between the employer and the employees is not good, there may be an increased idle 
time, over time, costs of idle time and over time, material loss and material cost per unit. The 
following hypothetical illustration helps to understand the importance of qualitative factors and 
how they influence the cost factors. Only a few qualitative factors are incorporated in the 
following illustration.  
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Few Physical and Financial Performance Statistics 

Particulars 

Employer-
Employee 

Relationship 
Good Worse 

Output per kg of material (in kgs) 0.90 0.80 
Material price per kg (`) 18 18 
Labour hours per kg of output  1 1.1 
Labour hour rate (`) 25 25 

  From the above, one can compute the following which show how the effect of 
qualitative factors can be included in the cost factors.  

Impact of Employer-Employee Relationship on Prime Cost 

Particulars 

Employer-
Employee 

Relationship 
Good Worse 

Material per kg of output 

 ቂ1 kg of material
0.9 kg of output  × 1 kg of outputቃ  

 ቂ1 kg of material
0.8 kg of output  × 1 kg of outputቃ 

 
11/9 kgs   

 
 
 

1.25 kgs 

Therefore, Cost per kg of output:   
Material cost (11/9 kgs × ` 18) and (1.25 kgs × ` 18) ` 20.0 ` 22.5 
Labour cost (1 hour × ` 25) and (1.1 hours × ` 25)  25.0 27.5 

 Prime cost per kg of output 45.0 50.0 

  It may be noted from the above calculations that the costs of material and labour 
increase by ` 5 per kg of output if the employer-employee relationship is not cordial. This way, 
the qualitative factors influence the quantitative factors and therefore, it is sufficient if only the 
quantitative factors are considered.  

b. The second important shortcoming of this concept is the assumption that the monetary unit (i.e., 
rupee) is stable. Due to this reason, the money measurement concept is also called stable 
monetary measurement concept. This concept does not recognize the changes in the 
purchasing power of money. Contrarily, there has been a perennial increase in the price levels 
resulting in a corresponding decline in the purchasing power of rupee. For instance, a 100-page 
note book which costs ` 10 now was available for a price of only ` 4 few years ago. Here two 
things become obvious. One is the increase in the price and the second is the decrease in the 
purchasing power of money. In spite of this type of continuous changes, Accounting (based on 
stable monetary concept) continues to treat all rupees as equal whether they represent 1947 
rupees or 2014 rupees or current prices. Consequently, Accounting fails to assess and report 
accurate current income and current worth of the business.  

Accounting Period Concept  
 In the earlier period, there were a large number of venture-type businesses. The businessmen 
used to wind up their businesses and prepare the Profit and Loss Account soon after the completion of 
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the venture they had undertaken. Gradually, the businessmen started undertaking one venture after 
another and also two or more ventures simultaneously without winding up the business. Consequently, 
the need for preparing the financial statements periodically was felt. This was supported by the advent 
of joint stock companies which are assumed to have indefinitely long life. Even the relevant statutes 
made the periodic preparation and presentation of financial reports mandatory. This way, the corporate 
sector started preparing the reports (shedding light on operational performance and financial position) 
periodically, normally once in a year.  
 Of course, it is not possible to have a complete idea about the amount of profit earned by an 
organization until it discontinues its business activities, disposes of its assets and realizes the cash and 
meets its liabilities. By doing so, one is able to find out the amount available to owners. The difference 
between the amount of capital introduced by the owners and the amount available to the owners at the 
end of the life of the company represents the amount of profit earned during the life of the company in 
which the owners have invested their money as capital.  
 But in order to know the amount of profit earned, it is neither possible nor desirable to wait 
till the end of the life of the business as the company has to meet a number of statutory obligations 
such as payment of tax, dividend, bonus, etc. Further, the company desires to know whether its 
performance is satisfactory or not so that it can take necessary remedial measures. Therefore, the 
companies wish to know their operating results and financial positions more frequently at regular time 
intervals. The outcome of this is the emergence of another accounting feature for the periodical 
measurements by splitting the business longevity into annual intervals (artificially) called accounting 
period.  
 Normally, 12-month period is adopted for this purpose. The companies use normally either 
the Calendar Year (i.e., 1st January to 31st December) or the Fiscal Year (i.e., 1st April to 31st March). 
Under the Companies Act and the Banking Regulations Act, the accounts should be prepared for a 
period of 12 months. This time interval is, as stated earlier, called accounting period. However, when 
an entity changes the end of its reporting period and presents the financial statements for a period 
longer or shorter than one year, it should disclose the same along with (a) reasons for using a longer 
or shorter period, and (b) the fact that the amounts presented in financial statements are not entirely 
comparable. 
 Anyhow, the income of the organization is calculated once in a year, and assets of the firm 
and the claims on the company's assets are also presented as on the last day of the accounting period. 
Though this measure is more an estimate (as costs of fixed assets, etc., are depreciated over a period of 
estimated life) than an actual, it is immensely useful for all concerned.  
 Though the reports are prepared and presented annually for the external users (i.e., all except 
management), for use by the parties internal to the company (i.e., management), the reports are 
prepared and presented more frequently. The reports to the management may be prepared and 
submitted either on daily basis or on weekly basis or fortnightly basis or on monthly basis or on 
quarterly basis or on bi-annual basis or on yearly basis. Even the format depends upon the 
management's requirement, nature of the problem, etc.  

Verifiability or Objectivity  
 This concept is also known as verifiable objective evidence concept. The reports prepared 
and presented to the users annually comprise of voluminous facts and figures. These facts and figures 
are used by a large number of parties (both the internal and the external, both the shareholders and 
others) and a number of decisions are taken on the basis of reported information. Since the reported 
information is used as the base for the purpose of taking decisions by both the internal and the external 



  
26    Accounting Theory and Analysis 

 

 

parties for both short- and long-run decisions, it is necessary to report only the truth. If a company 
fails· to report the truth, it is almost impossible to win the confidence of the users of reports. 
Companies cannot, therefore, report whatever they wish to report. Hence, there is a need for providing 
the financial reports which are acceptable by the users with confidence, trust and reliability. This is 
possible only when the organizations minimize the scope for intentional distortion, bias, fraud or error. 
This can be achieved when they record and report only those transactions and figures which are 
supported by proper evidences. This concept, therefore, specifies that all entries of business 
transactions should solidly be supported by the evidences such as documents, deeds, invoices, 
vouchers, etc., which are completely objective and subject to verification. These documents are the 
bases for making entries. As the entries are based on documents (i.e., evidences), anybody can verify 
the entries with the help of these evidences. The importance of this concept lies with its object that the 
records and statements should say the fact as they are without any bias to either side. Verifiable 
financial accounting information provides results that would be substantially duplicated by 
independent measures using the same measurement methods (Accounting Principles Board).  
 Not all accounting measurements can be properly supported by evidence. For example, the 
amount of cash received and paid, purchase and sale of goods and services, payment of salaries and 
wages, payment of insurance premium, electricity charges, rent, etc., during an accounting year can be 
supported by proper evidences. But there is no proper evidence for the provision for doubtful debts, 
annual depreciation provided, amortization of research and development costs, goodwill written-off, 
pro-rated common costs, etc. It may be noted here that the company may have proper evidences about 
the common costs incurred, acquisition cost of the depreciable asset, research and development costs 
incurred, etc. But there is no evidence to prove that only a specific amount (which the company 
charges to the current year’s Profit and Loss Account) pertains to the activities of the current year. 
Consequently, these calculations are guided by the past experience, objectivity, estimate and 
subjectivity. In this type of accounting measurements, one should evolve a proper policy and it should 
be made known to the users. Further, it should be used consistently year after year.  

Dual-Aspect Concept  
 This is another important accounting concept that should be kept in mind while analyzing and 
recording the business transactions. It is based on the double-entry system of book-keeping where the 
entry made for each transaction is composed of two parts - one or more debits and one or more credits. 
Before analyzing this concept, it is desirable to have a look at the following examples.  
a. A group of people decided to establish a business concern. They brought in ` 50 lakh as their 

initial contribution to the capital of the business concern. This has two effects. One is the inflow 
of cash into the business. Hence, the creation of an asset of the company in the form of cash to 
the extent of ` 50 lakh. On the other hand, when the company, an entity distinct from its owners, 
accepts the contribution made by the group, it creates for itself a liability. The liability is in the 
form of recognition of claim of the contributors on the assets of the business concern. Therefore,  

 
Equities are in the form of rights in assets and therefore, it may be said that without proper assets, 
there is no effective equities.  
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b. Normally, the amount of capital contributed by the owners to the share capital of the company is 
not adequate for the purpose of financing all of its activities. This necessitates the organization to 
borrow from the financial institutions and others. This type of transactions have two effects - one, 
it increases the assets (i.e., cash) of the company and the second one is the increase in the claims 
of lenders on the assets of the organization. Therefore, 

 Owners' Equity or
Claim (i.e., Capital)൨ + ቂOutsiders' Equity

or Claim
ቃ = Assets and

Properties ൨ 

Therefore, the claim of the owners is equal to the difference between assets and claims of 
outsiders. That means,  

Owners' Equity or
Claim (i.e., Capital)൨  = Assets of the

Company ൨ - ቂOutsiders' Equity
or Claim

ቃ 

The claim of the owners is always residual in nature. This is because of the reason that in the 
event of liquidation or dissolution of the business, they (i.e., owners, equity shareholders) do not 
have any claim on the assets of the business until all claims of lenders are.satisfied.  

 From the above few examples, it is obvious that every transaction has two sides in the form of 
affecting at least two (viz., assets, or liabilities or capital). One effect may be in the form of either 
increase or decrease in the assets and the second one is on outsiders' equity or owners' equity. The 
dual-aspect, therefore, enables to evolve the rules which are required for the purpose of proper 
recording of business transactions.  
 From the above illustrative analysis, it is clear that every transaction has both its origin and 
destination. To put it differently, every transaction originates from a particular source and reaches a 
particular destination. This is the focal point of the dual-aspect concept. The point of origin of flow of 
money is credited as it gives the benefit (or as it sacrifices something) and the point of destination is 
debited as it receives the benefit (or enjoys the benefit). Therefore, it is said, for every debit, there is 
a credit. Further, the money value does not change from the source of origination to its destination. In 
simple words, the money value remains same between the points of origin and destination of 
transaction.  
 The same system is extended even to analyze the periodic expenses and revenues. Similarly, 
when expenses are incurred but not paid, it has two effects wherein one is increasing the expenses and 
the other one is creating the liabilities on account.  

Cost Principle  
 The business undertakings acquire properties and services. These are essential for the purpose 
of continuing its manufacturing and trading activities. When it acquires the properties, goods and 
services, they are recorded in the books of account of the company at their costs of acquisition. In 
other words, the price paid for the purpose of acquiring the goods and services is the amount used as 
the base for recording the goods and services so acquired. The reasons which justify the use of 
acquisition cost as the base for recording by the companies include, among others, the following.  

Historical costs are the actual money exchanged in the transaction. This comparative 
objectivity is one of the important justifications for the recording of assets and services 
at their historical costs. The amount involved can be verified with the evidence in the 
form of vouchers, receipts, agreements, etc. Consequently, the entries are not influenced 
by the personal bias or error or deliberational mis-statement of figures.  

 The financial statements, as far as possible, are based on objectivity and the personal views of 
the people are not considered as the proper base for making entries in the books of account and for the 
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preparation of financial statements. All transactions and events are recorded at the actual amount of 
money involved. Cost concept implies that the transactions recorded in the books of account are only 
at the amounts actually involved. In other words, they are recorded at the amounts agreed upon by the 
two parties to the transactions. The following examples help to understand this concept.  
a. ABC Company is willing to pay up to ` 25 lakh for a specially made machine as the machine is 

essential for the purpose of producing its export-oriented product Y. But ABC Company 
succeeded in buying the same machine for a price of only ` 20 lakh. This transaction is, 
therefore, recorded in the books of account of ABC Company at ` 20 lakh actual price of the 
machine but not ` 25 lakh which it was willing to pay.  

b. Suppose, ABC Company succeeded in obtaining an asset without paying anything. Then this 
asset would not be recorded in the books of account of the company as it has not paid any money 
for its acquisition.  

 From the above analysis, it is clear that the original cost becomes the base for recording and 
therefore, the balance sheet shows only the original costs but not the present values. In this regard, the 
following points should be kept in mind.  
a. Majority of items of fixed assets are depreciable assets. They are recorded in the books at their 

acquisition costs. Since these assets render service to the company for a number of years, their 
acquisition costs are distributed, on some basis, over the years during which the assets render 
service to the company. The acquisition cost of the asset (which appears on the assets side of 
Balance Sheet) is, therefore, gradually and systematically reduced by the diminution in the value 
due to wear and tear of the asset which in Accounting is called depreciation. Cost concept, 
therefore, emphasizes on the acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation. Assume, XYZ 
Company purchased a machine on 1st January, 2010 for a price of ` 10 lakh. The company 
estimated the useful life of the machine at five years with no residual value. The company uses 
the straight-line method. In this case, the machine is recorded in the books of account at ` 10 
lakh. The gradual decrease is in the following manner.  

Written-down Value of Machine 

Year Particulars ` Amount  
(`) 

2010 Cost of the machine 10,00,0001  
Less: Depreciation for 2010 2,00,000 8,00,0002 

2011 Cost of the machine  8,00,0001  
Less: Depreciation for 2011 2,00,000 6,00,0002 

2012 Cost of the machine  6,00,0001  
Less: Depreciation for 2012 2,00,000 4,00,0002 

2013 Cost of the machine  4,00,0001  
Less: Depreciation for 2013 2,00,000 2,00,0002 

2014 Cost of the machine  2,00,0001  
Less: Depreciation for 2014 2,00,000 02 

1. Represents the cost of the machine at the beginning of the year  
2. Represents the cost of the machine at the end of the year (written-

down value, WDV) 
The gradual reduction, to the extent of depreciation, represents the cost of service of machine 
utilized during an accounting year for productive purposes. Since the machine is having five 
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years of useful life, its acquisition cost should be charged to all the five years. In this case, the 
record of written-down-value of the machine at ` 8,00,000 on 31st December, 2010 cannot be 
viewed as violation of cost concept.  

b. One can also find a non-depreciable asset viz., land. Further, its market value increases as the 
time passes. It is due to the decrease in the purchasing power of money. For instance, a hectare of 
land acquired by a company in the year 1995 for a price of ` 2 lakh might now, in 2014, cost      
` 10 lakh. In spite of this significant increase in the value of land, the balance sheet of the 
company continues to report only the acquisition cost of ` 2 lakh but not the current cost of ` 10 
lakh. 

c. In certain cases like inventory, investment, etc., the corresponding accounting figures are 
changed to reflect the changes in the market value, if the company desires. For example, the 
unsold stock of finished goods or the unused stock of raw materials or the stock of semi-finished 
product is normally valued at the lower of the cost and net realizable value. Consequently, the 
stocks or year-end inventories might have been recorded at their net realizable value if this is 
lower than their cost price. 

d.  In some cases, accountants have to go on the basis of estimates rather than exact figures. For 
example, if the benefits of an item of expenditure are likely to accrue over a longer period, then 
this expenditure is normally capitalized and amortized over a period of time. An illustration helps 
to understand this point. A company has invested ` 50 lakh on the development of a new product. 
The company expects to sell 5 crore units of the newly developed product over a period of next 
10 years at an annual rate of 50 lakh units. In this situation, the company capitalizes the research 
and development costs of ` 50 lakh and amortizes the same at the rate of ` 5 lakh [i.e., (` 50 
1akh ÷ 5 crore units) × 50 lakh units] over the next 10 years.  

 As a result of all these, though the figures in the financial statements are, as far as possible, 
strictly related to cost, they may not reflect the current values. This practice of using historical cost has 
been criticized by many on a number of grounds. One such ground is the failure to reflect current 
values of assets and other services. Both the individuals and the professional institutes are favouring at 
least the supplementary statements providing the current value information. 

Matching Principle  
 In the case of venture-type businesses, the accounts are prepared for each venture after its 
completion to ascertain the amount of profit earned from the venture. The most popular form of 
venture-type business is the acceptance to do some work on behalf of another party for an agreed sum. 
However, even in this type, the completion period may exceed one year. And in this type of contract, 
the accounts are usually prepared annually in the same manner as in the case of going-concerns.  
 In the case of going concerns, as they are assumed to continue the business activities 
indefinitely and since the interested parties cannot wait till the liquidation of the company to know the 
amount of profit, the companies compute the profit-by preparing the Profit and Loss Accounts 
periodically say, once in a year, dividing the whole life of the company into a number of years. In 
order to ascertain the profit, the related costs should be matched against (or deducted from) the 
revenue. This process is called matching.  
 The process of matching is the relating of accomplishments or revenues (as measured by 
the selling prices of goods and services delivered) and efforts or expenses (as measured by the 
cost of goods and services used) to a particular period for which a measurement of income is 
desired. In simple, the cost incurred by the company to produce and offer the product to the customer 
should be deducted from the revenue earned (from sales of that goods and services) to arrive at the 
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amount of profit earned during an accounting period. This concept plays an important role as the 
amount of profit is one of the important items which is the focal point for all the concerned. Therefore, 
proper matching is necessary. Any error in the process of matching results in a number of serious 
consequences. For instance, if the cost of sales is understated, then the company is able to report 
higher profit which is sufficient enough for the management to declare a higher rate of dividend to the 
shareholders. As a result, the company pays dividend out of the capital resulting in the erosion of 
capital moving the company towards the bankruptcy. On the other hand, if the cost of sales is 
overstated, the company reports lower profit or reports loss which may be sufficient for the existing 
contributors to take back their contributions resulting in the lack of capital. It is this type aspects 
which necessitate the proper matching process. There are three important steps in the process of 
matching – (1) determination of revenue earned during the year, (2) ascertainment of the amount of 
expenses incurred to earn that revenue, and (3) computation of profit which is the difference between 
the revenue and expenses. It is, therefore, necessary to study these three aspects of the matching 
process viz., revenue, costs and profit in detail. 

(1) Recognition of Revenue  
 Companies earn revenue by selling goods and services to the customers. This revenue is 
recognized in the books of account. Recognition of revenue in the books of account is simply a 
process of determining the point of time at which the sales revenue is recognized or recorded in the 
books of account of the company. There are a few criteria which may be used to determine the time of 
revenue recognition. Though the companies normally consider the 'point of sale' as the appropriate 
time for recognizing revenue as being realized, one can also find a few other methods such as 
collection method, instalment sales method and percentage of completion of contract method (Figure 
– 1.7).  

 
Figure - 1.7: Methods of Revenue Recognition 

(a) Point of Sales Method: This is the common and widely used method by the companies to 
recognize the revenue. Under this method, the amount of revenue earned by the company is 
recognized as being realized in its books at the time the title passes to the buyer. This point is 
considered for the recognition of revenue as realized. The reason is, by this time, the selling  
price has been determined by both the parties (viz., seller and buyer), the ownership right is transferred 
from seller to buyer and most importantly, the seller has either received the sales revenue in cash or 
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the seller has an enforceable claim against the buyer. It is because of this reason that no distinction is 
made between cash sales and credit sales. An exception to this method is the collection method.  
(b) Collection or Receipt of Sales Revenue Method: Under the point of sales method, there is a 
problem of bad debts in case the goods were sold on credit basis. Further, there is an element of 
uncertainty about the future in which the amount due from the buyers is collected. Some concerns, 
therefore, recognize the revenue in the books of account as being realized only on the receipt of sales 
price from the buyer.  
(c) Instalment Sales Method: Sometimes, the seller agrees to sell his goods and services on 
instalment basis wherein the buyer makes a down payment and agrees to pay the remaining amount in 
a specified number of instalments at specific time intervals over a period of time. In this case, the title 
to the goods may be transferred to the buyer either at the time of sales or on the receipt of full amount 
(i.e., on the receipt of even the last instalment).  
 In the case of instalment sales, the revenue may be recognized as being realized in the same 
manner as other sales on credit. That means, the company may consider the point of sale for the 
purpose of recognizing the revenue as being realized. Revenue may also be recognized on 'collection 
basis' when goods were sold on credit basis. Each time the selling company receives the cash (i.e., 
instalment amount) from the buyer, it is recorded in its books as the revenue realized. In this regard, 
the following points are worth noted.  
a. The sales revenue comprises of cost of sales and profits. 
b. The revenue from the sale of a product (to a customer) is recognized not once but in a number of 

times equivalent to the number of instalments including the down payment. 
c.  Each instalment received comprises of two components - a part towards the cost of sales and 

another part towards the profit. 
 In brief, the revenue is not recognized in full at the time of sales but recognized partially each 
time the instalment is received. An illustration helps to understand this point. On 1st January, 2013, 
ABC Company bought a machine from MNP Company for a price of ` 15 lakh on instalment basis. 
The agreement specifies that at the time of taking delivery, ABC was to make a down payment of ` 5 
lakh and the remaining ` 10 lakh in 20 monthly instalments starting from 1st February, 2013. At the 
time of giving delivery, MNP has also transferred the title to ABC. And MNP incurs ` 12.5 lakh 
expenses on each machine to assemble and sell. MNP has adopted calendar year as accounting year. 
In this case, if MNP uses the point-of-sale criterion, the amount of revenue recognized in its books for 
2013 as realized was ` 15,00,000. Since MNP incurred ` 12.5 lakh expenses, it earned a profit of ` 
2.5 lakh on the sale during 2013.  
 On the other hand, if receipt of revenue method is used, only ` 10,50,000 (i.e., ` 5,00,000 
down payment + ` 5,50,000 in 11 instalments during 2013 from 1st February  to 31st December) is 
recognized as being realized. The applicable costs and profits are shown below.  

Percentage of Cost
to Revenue

ቃ = ቂ` 12,50,000
` 15,00,000  × 100ቃ 

= 83⅓% 

Percentage of Profit
to Revenue

ቃ = ቂ ` 2,50,000
` 15,00,000  × 100ቃ 

= 16⅔% 
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Amount of Revenue recognized in the Income Statements for 2013 
and 2014 

Year (and month) 
Amount (`) 

Sales Revenue 
(recognized) 

Pro-rated 
Cost Profit  

2013: January  5,00,000 4,16,666⅔ 83,333⅓ 
February  50,000 41,666⅔ 8,333⅓ 
March  50,000 41,666⅔ 8,333⅓ 
April  50,000 41,666⅔ 8,333⅓ 
May  50,000 41,666⅔ 8,333⅓ 
June  50,000 41,666⅔ 8,333⅓ 
July  50,000 41,666⅔ 8,333⅓ 
August  50,000 41,666⅔ 8,333⅓ 
September  50,000 41,666⅔ 8,333⅓ 
October  50,000 41,666⅔ 8,333⅓ 
November  50,000 41,666⅔ 8,333⅓ 
December  50,000 41,666⅔ 8,333⅓ 

Total for 2013 10,50,000 8,75,000 1,75,000 
2014: January  50,000 41,666⅔ 8,333⅓ 

February  50,000 41,666⅔ 8,333⅓ 
March  50,000 41,666⅔ 8,333⅓ 
April  50,000 41,666⅔ 8,333⅓ 
May  50,000 41,666⅔ 8,333⅓ 
June  50,000 41,666⅔ 8,333⅓ 
July  50,000 41,666⅔ 8,333⅓ 
August  50,000 41,666⅔ 8,333⅓ 
September  50,000 41,666⅔ 8,333⅓ 

Total for 2014 4,50,000 3,75,000 75,000 
Grand Total 15,00,000 12,50,000 2,50,000 

(d) Percentage Completion of Contract Method: There are some large construction works whose 
completion take more than one accounting year (each). If the contracts are completed in the same 
accounting year in which the work has been initiated, the entire contract price is recognized (as the 
revenue realized) in the same year on the completion of the contract. This type of contract, therefore, 
does not pose any difficulty. But the contracts which require more than one accounting year for 
completion pose some problems. Here also, two alternative methods are available.  
 Under the first alternative, the revenue (i.e., contract price) is recognized as being realized on 
the completion of full contract work. Once the contract is completed, the contractee pays the amount 
or the contractor has an enforceable claim against the contractee. Of course, the terms and conditions 
of the contract entered into by both the contractor and the contractee should be kept in mind. Hence, at 
the time of handing over the work to the contractee, the revenue is recognized. 
 But if the completion of the work requires more than one accounting year, usually the 
contractor does not wait till the completion of the contract to recognize the revenue. In this case, the 
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contractor considers a part of the contract price proportional to the percentage of completion of 
contract. The following illustration helps to understand the revenue recognition procedure.  
 On 1st January, 2012, ABC Engineers Ltd has accepted a contract for constructing a dam for a 
price of ` 150 million for the Government of India. The contractor has agreed to complete the work 
within a period of five years as detailed below. 

Year  2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 
%age of completion 25 40 65 90 100 

The government has agreed to make the payment at the end of each year to the contractor on the basis 
of progress of work. The contractor is hopeful of completing the work by incurring only ` 120 million 
of expenses.  
 Under the first alternative method, the entire contract price of ` 150 million is recognized in 
the books of account of the contractor for the year 2016 as the revenue being realized. That means, the 
revenue is recognized as being realized on the completion of the dam. Under the second alternative 
method, each year, a proportionate contract price is recognized as stated below.  

Recognition of Revenue 

Year Amount (` million) 
Amount of Revenue recognized  Cost  Profit  

2012 25% of ` 150 millions 37.50 25% of ` 120 millions 30 7.50 
2013 15% of ` 150 millions 22.50 15% of ` 120 millions 18 4.50 
2014 25% of ` 150 millions 37.50 25% of ` 120 millions 30 7.50 
2015 25% of ` 150 millions 37.50 25% of ` 120 millions 30 7.50 
2016 10% of ` 150 millions 15.00 10% of ` 120 millions 12 3.00 
Total  150.00  120 30.00 

(2) Computation of Related Costs  
 It has already been stated that the related costs should be matched with the revenue to arrive 
at the amount of profit earned during an accounting year. It is, therefore, necessary to know the 
meaning and other aspects of related costs.  
 Initially, it is necessary to differentiate between the terms cost, expenditure and expense. The 
word cost is one of the slippery words used in Accounting literature. Though a number of attempts 
have been made in the past, nothing of worth consideration has come out. Consequently, one can find 
the use of cost, expenditure and expense synonymously and interchangeably to each other. For 
example, the following excerpts may be used as base for analysis.  
a. Cost is the amount of cash or equivalent given to acquire the property or the service (Niswonger 

and Fess 1977).  
b. An expenditure takes place when the cash or other assets of a business enterprise are exchanged 

for acquisition of new assets, goods or services or by incurring liabilities (Bhattacharya S. K and 
John Deardon 1984). 

c. The word 'cost' used in the phrase 'matching of cost with revenue' refers to the idea of expense 
(Gokul Sinha 1986).  

Comparison of the first two excerpts shows that both apply to the same thing as analyzed below. 
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 From the above comparison, the following analysis may be made. If the assets are acquired 
on cash basis, the company which acquires the assets gives cash to the selling company. Hence, the 
amount of cash paid is the cost. For example,  
a. If a company acquires a machine for a price of ` 14 lakh on cash basis, ` 14 lakh is the cost.  
b. If the same machine is purchased on a credit basis, the purchasing company creates for itself a 

liability to the selling company to the extent of ` 14 lakh. The cost is equivalent to the liability 
created.  

c. If the machine is acquired by giving assets other than cash (i.e., if an asset other than cash is 
exchanged for the machine), the cost is the cash equivalent of the asset given. For example, the 
cash equivalent of the asset given to acquire the machine is ` 12 lakh, then the cost of the 
machine is ` 12 lakh and it is also the cost to the company.  

 The point which should be taken cognizance of is that both the first and the second excerpts 
give the same meaning as explained above preceded by a diagrammatic comparison of the two. On the 
basis of this, one may come to a conclusion that, Cost = Expenditure. On the basis of the third 
excerpt, one can come to the conclusion that, Cost = Expense. By comparing these two equations 
(viz., Cost = Expenditure and Cost = Expense), one can say that, Expenditure = Expense. Therefore, 
Cost = Expenditure = Expense.  
 It is because of this type of usage, it was opined earlier that the word 'cost' is one of the 
slippery words, and cost, expenditure and expense are used interchangeably though there exists some 
difference. One more excerpt may be used as the base for the purpose of distinguishing them. 
Expenditure refers to, any cost the benefit of which may extend beyond the current 
accounting (Eric L. Kohler 1978). An illustration may be taken to analyse these aspects. The 
acquisition cost of the machine held by the company may be called expenditure as the company 
derives benefit from the machine for a number of years (in future including the year in which the 
machine has been acquired by the company). It is also called unexpired cost as the utility of the 
machine has not fully been utilized during the year of acquisition (but the company continues to use 
the machine beyond the acquisition year). The amount of unexpired cost decreases with increase in the 
use of the asset. For example, assume that ABC Company acquired a machine for ` l0 lakh on 1st 
January, 2013. The machine is having a useful life of four years with no or negligible residual value.  
 It is clear from the above that the company uses the machine for productive purposes for a 
period of four years. The total utility of the machine cannot be utilized in the year of acquisition viz., 
2013. Therefore it is an item of expenditure or unexpired cost. This unexpired cost decreases as the 
time passes as shown below.  
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Statement of Unexpired Cost 

Particulars Amount 
(`) 

Unexpired cost on 1st January, 2013 (acquisition cost) 10,00,000 
Less: Depreciation for 2013 (called, expired cost)1 2,50,000 

 Unexpired cost on 31st December, 2013 (or on 1st January, 2014) 7,50,000 
Less: Depreciation for 2014  2,50,000 

 Unexpired cost on 31st December, 2014 (or on 1st January, 2015) 5,00,000 
Less: Depreciation for 2015  2,50,000 

 Unexpired cost on 31st December, 2015 (or on 1st January, 2016) 2,50,000 
Less: Depreciation for 2016  2,50,000 

 Unexpired cost on 31st December, 2016 (or on 1st January, 2017) 0 
1. Assumed Straight Line Method. Meaning of ‘expired cost’ is discussed later. 

 Expense refers to any expenditure the benefits from which do not extend beyond the 
present (Eric L. Kohler 1978). For instance, if an item of asset, goods or service was acquired in 
2013 and used in full during the same 2013, its acquisition cost may be termed, according to the above 
meaning, as expense. It is a part of expired cost. It is so called as the utility of the asset acquired 
expires – whether it is utilized or not within the accounting year. If the benefit or utility of the asset is 
directed towards the productive activities, it is an expense. Otherwise (i.e., if the utility is lost before it 
is being utilized), it is called loss. That means, loss represents the unutilized part of expired cost. 
 Besides, a part of the acquisition cost of the asset (i.e., a part of unexpired cost as shown in 
the above statement) is considered as expense depending upon the degree of utilization of asset made 
during the year. The summary of the above may be presented as shown below (Figure – 1.8). 

 
Figure - 1.8: Cost-Expenditure-Expense 

 These expenses are related to the revenue generating activities undertaken by the company 
during a year. Therefore, the expenses are related costs that are deducted from the revenue to arrive at 
the profit amount. 
 In conclusion, it may be said that the measurement of income by matching expenses against 
the revenue is neither simple nor accurate. A detailed and an accurate analysis as explained above is 
necessary for the purpose of finding out the amount of revenue realized and the expenses incurred to 
produce that revenue. The accurate income measurement depends upon the accuracy with which the 
related costs or expired costs and the realized revenue are computed. Once they are computed, the 
expenses incurred during an accounting year are deducted from the revenue realized during that year 
to ascertain the profit. 
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Illustration – 1.1: On 31st March, 2013, Ramji Dayalji (P) Ltd, a trading organization, owned 
inventory costing ` 3 lakh of which inventory valued ` 1 lakh was with consignees. It also has in its 
possession inventory valued at ` 10 lakh belonging to its own principals. During the year ended 31st 
March, 2014, Ramji Dayalji (P) Ltd, 
a. Purchased inventory worth ` 50 lakh of which 80% was dispatched to its consignees, the 

transportation cost being 5% of the value of goods sent. 
b. Received from its principals inventory of ` 150 lakh. 
c. Sold 90% of own goods received and lying with itself at 20% margin on sales. 
d. Sold on behalf of principals 95% of goods available at 120% of the value thereof. Ramji Dayalji 

(P) Ltd is entitled to commission at 10% of such sales 
 The consignees sold at 125% of their per unit landed cost (consignees spending nil) 95% of 
goods available with them and were entitled to commission at 10% of sales. You are asked to work 
out the various figures for recording in the revenue statement of Ramji Dayalji (P) Ltd for the year 
ended 31st March, 2014. Prepare the revenue statement.   [CA (PE – II), May 1999] 
Solution: Ramji Dayalji (P) Ltd is both the consignee (to its principals) and consignor (to its 
consignees). Hence, from the point of view of Ramji Dayalji (P) Ltd, 
a. Revenue/income comprises of two broad categories viz., (i) Revenue from the sale of goods by it 

and by its consignees, and (ii) Commission for the goods of principals sold. 
b. Similarly, cost also comprises two broad categories viz., (i) Cost of own goods sold, and (ii) 

Selling expenses and commission to consignees.  
 In the light of the above, the problem is solved below. As the basis for the preparation of 
income statement, the following calculations are made. 
a. Opening stock = ` 3,00,000 (including ` 1,00,000 worth inventory with the consignees) 
b. Inventory purchases = ` 50,00,000 and 80% of this (i.e., ` 40,00,000) was sent to consignees at a 

transportation cost of ` 2,00,000 (i.e., 5% of ` 40,00,000) 
c. Goods available for sale with Ramji and Dayalji (P) Ltd and with its consignees] 

Particulars 

Amount (`) 
Ramji and Dayalji (P) Ltd 

Consignees Own Goods Principals’ 
Goods 

Opening stock 2,00,000 10,00,000 1,00,000 
Add: Purchases/receipts 10,00,000 1,50,00,000 40,00,000 

Transportation cost 0 0 2,00,000 
  Cost of goods available for sale 12,00,000 1,60,00,000 43,00,000 

(Cost of) Sales (90%, 95% and 95%) 10,80,000 1,52,00,000 40,85,000 
 Closing stock 1,20,000 8,00,000 2,15,000 

Sales revenue by:    
Ramji and Dayalji (P) Ltd    

Own goods ቂ` 10,80,000 × 100
80 ቃ 13,50,000   

Principals goods ቂ` 1,52,00,000 × 120
100ቃ  1,82,40,000  
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Consignee ቂ` 40,85,000 × 125
100ቃ   51,06,250 

 Commission earned/paid - 18,24,000 5,10,625 

d. Closing stock: (` 1,20,000 own + ` 2,15,000 with consignees) = ` 3,35,000 
Dr Income Statement of Ramji Dayalji (P) Ltd for the year ended 31st March, 2014 Cr 

Particulars Amount 
(`) Particulars Amount  

(`) 
To Opening Stock 3,00,000 By Sales Revenue 13,50,000 
To Purchases 50,00,000 By Sales (consignees) 51,06,250 
To Transportation Cost 2,00,000 By Closing Stock 3,35,000 
To Commission (payable) 5,10,625 By Commission (earned) 18,24,000 
To Net Profit (balance) 26,04,625   
 86,15,250  86,15,250 

Realization Principle  
 Accounting records the business transactions that have taken place during an accounting 
period. Hence, Accounting may be called historical record of business transactions as it records only 
what has happened. Of course, there are some exceptions. For instance, it may be said that accounting 
records not only what has happened but also what is happening and what is going to happen or what 
ought to happen. Further, it anticipates and records the effects of the transactions already taken place. 
But it does not anticipate transactions. An illustration helps to understand the point clearly.  
 Assume that ABC Company has sold 2,00,000 units of its finished product at ` 200 per unit 
for cash and another 2,00,000 units on credit basis at ` 205 per unit. These are the sales transactions 
which have already taken place. The experience of the company with the customers reveals 5% bad 
debts. And therefore, the company expects that it can receive only 95% of ` 4,10,00,000 (i.e., 
2,00,000 units × ` 205) and makes a provision for doubtful debts to the extent of 5% of ` 4,10,00,000. 
Both ` 4,10,00,000 sales revenue (besides cash sales revenue of ` 4,00,00,000) and ` 20,50,000 
provision for doubtful debts are recorded in the books of account. The point which should be noted 
here is that the company anticipates 5% of the credit sales as doubtful and therefore, records in the 
books of account. But it does not anticipate the transactions. Of course, the companies anticipate 
transactions but the entries are not made in the financial statements on the basis of anticipation. The 
income statement reports that the company has earned ` 8,10,000,000 sales revenue (` 4,00,00,000 
cash sales revenue and ` 4,10,00,000 credit sales revenue). But the income statement does not contain 
the anticipated sales revenue. With this background, it is necessary to understand this concept.  
 This concept seeks to answer one basic question viz., when does the company realize the 
income - either the sales revenue or the profit? The answer, in simple, is that, realization occurs at the 
time of exchange of goods and services for liquid assets such as cash, trade debtors, bills receivable, 
etc. That means, the realization takes place at the time of sale of goods and services either on cash 
basis or on credit basis. The following illustration may be taken to make the point very clear.    
 Assume that an organization purchased 15,000 units of product Y at ` 20 per unit and sold 
only 12,500 units at the rate of ` 25 per unit during the year. Consequently, it earned a total sales 
revenue of ` 3,12,500. In the same way, it earned a profit of ` 5 on each unit sold but not on each unit 
purchased. Just because of the reason that the company sold the product at ` 25 a unit, the unsold units 
(i.e., 2,500) cannot be valued at the rate of ` 25. This is because of the reason that the revenue and 
profit on unsold units are not yet realized and they are only unrealized and therefore, cannot be taken 
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into consideration unless there is an exchange or sale of goods. Further, it is immaterial whether the 
sale is on cash or credit basis as the promise of the party to pay is sufficient in the case of credit sales.  

Systems of Accounting  
 Basically, there are two systems of accounting. They are cash system of accounting and 
mercantile or accrual system of accounting. Under cash system of accounting, accounting entries are 
made only when cash is received or paid. No entry is, therefore, made when a payment or receipt is 
merely due. Mostly, the government system of accounting is on cash system of accounting. Though 
certain professional people like doctors, lawyers, chartered accountants, tax consultants, etc., record 
their income on cash basis, they take into account outstanding expenses also. This method is, 
therefore, called hybrid accounting. The features of cash system of accounting are summarized 
below.  
a. Revenue is not earned until cash is received and any cash collection for services to be rendered in 

future is regarded as revenue of the period in which the collection is made or received though 
nothing has been done to earn it.  

b. If a bill is paid for a machine in an accounting year, it is treated as an expense for that accounting 
year though the machine can be used for a number of years in future. 

 In conclusion, one can say that the cash system of accounting which recognizes revenues and 
expenses only when money is received and paid respectively is not recommended for general use.  
 On the other hand, under mercantile or accrual system of accounting, accounting entries are 
made on the basis of the amounts having become due for payment or receipt. It is based on the sound 
assumption that when a transaction takes place, its consequences cannot be avoided. Therefore, it 
should be brought into book in order to present meaningful information about the amount of profit 
earned or the amount of loss incurred and also of the financial position of the firm concerned. 
Important features of this system are briefed below.  

a. Exclusion of revenue received in advance and prepaid expenses. That means, they are not 
considered for the purpose of preparing the income statement of the current year as they do not 
pertain to the current year.  

b. Provision for future losses and expenses but attributable to the current year (e.g., provision for 
doubtful debts) are also considered. 

c. Inclusion of current year's revenue received earlier or to be collected subsequently, and expenses 
paid previously or to be paid in future. Both the revenue and the expense which pertain to the 
current year are considered irrespective of whether they have received/paid or not.  

Conservatism  
 The environment in which the business concerns are operating is full of uncertainties. 
Business concerns have to make a number of estimates or forecasts about the future. But it is very 
difficult to predict what is going to happen in the next moment. However, if these uncertainties are not 
taken into account and if no proper arrangement is made to manage these uncertainties and risks, the 
companies are put into lot of disadvantages and they may not be able to survive in the business.  
 Further, the accountants face a number of problems and one such problem is the selection of 
the best solution out of a number of solutions available to tackle the problem pertaining to accounting. 
For instance, Accounting Standard on Inventories issued by the Accounting Standards Board of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India states that, inventories should be valued at lower of 
historical cost and net realizable value. Further, the same Standard explains as to how to compute 
the historical cost of inventories. It states, the historical cost of inventories should normally be 
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determined by using FIFO, Average Cost Method or L1FO formulae. The Standard also states, 
the historical cost of manufactured inventories may be arrived at on the basis of either direct 
costing or absorption costing. Besides these, there are at least twelve other methods which are also 
considered as based on sound accounting principles. They are, HIFO (Highest-in, First-out) Method, 
NIFO (Next-in, First-out) Method, Simple Average Price Method, Standard Cost Method, Base Stock 
Method, Inflated Price Method, Replacement Cost Method, Current Cost Method, Periodical Simple 
Average Price Method, Periodical Weighted Average Price Method, Moving Simple Average Price 
Method and Moving Weighted Average Price Method. These excerpts and analysis explicitly bring 
out the fact that there are a number of approaches to value the year-end inventories and therefore, the 
problem is about the selection of the best solution.  

 With this background, conservatism convention is analyzed. When alternative approaches are 
available to (re)solve the accounting problems having a bearing on the operating result and the 
financial position, normally accountants favour conservative approach. Even while making the 
estimates, they depend upon the most conservative approach. One of the reasons for this may be the 
possibility that the anticipated profit, revenue, etc., recorded in the income statement may not be 
materialized. Consequently, the financial reports lose credibility. The financial statements are, 
therefore, prepared on rather a conservative basis. This convention which is often stated to suggest 
anticipate no profit and provide for all possible losses takes into consideration all prospective 
losses but leaves all prospective profits. It is because of this reason that the companies follow the 
following while preparing the financial statements.  
a. Increase in the value of asset and any other anticipated gain are normally not considered until 

they are being realized by means of sale.  
b. Anticipated losses and decrease in the values of assets are normally recognized even before the 

sales.  
c. Inventories are normally valued on the basis of lower of cost and net realizable value. 
d. Companies prefer to write-off the entire cost as chargeable against the current year's revenue 

instead of capitalizing and amortizing over a period of time.  
e. Making provision for doubtful debts.   
f. Creating provisions against any fluctuation in the prices of investment.  ,  

 The effects of this conservatism on the operating result and the financial position are the 
understatement of income and also the understatement of assets. It also results in the understatement 
of the surplus available to the shareholders as the accountants understate the assets on the one hand 
and overstate the liabilities on the other. Is it desirable?  
 It is very difficult to answer this simple question. In a way, ‘yes’ as the companies anticipate 
all future losses but not profit and therefore, the earnings and financial position are better than 
revealed in the financial statements. It is due to two reasons. One, as the companies anticipate all 
possible future losses, the actual loss is always lower than anticipated loss. Secondly, since the 
companies do not anticipate any profit; the actual profit is always higher than the anticipated. Hence, 
the net effect is higher actual profit than reported in the income statement. Same is the' case with the 
balance sheet. It is a policy of playing on the safer side.  
 But conservatism is not a justification for deliberate understatement (Rufus Wixon, 
Walter G Kell and Norton M Bedford 1970). Understatement of values of assets and/or the 
overstatement of liabilities deliberately, in the name of conservatism, cannot be equated as the 
application of this concept (of course, liabilities cannot be overstated. But by making allowances for 
expected future losses and contingencies, and reporting these as liabilities, they may be overstated). 



  
40    Accounting Theory and Analysis 

 

 

This is because of the reason that the Profit and Loss Account, and the Balance Sheet do not report the 
true and fair view of the affairs of the company. This deliberate understatement of assets results in the 
overstatement of profit in the next year/s as the company (during the current year) used the most 
conservative values and therefore, understated the inventories and depreciable assets. Consequently, 
the cost of goods is understated in the next year due to the understatement of opening stock of 
inventories (i.e., the closing stock of the current year) and also nominal or negligible amount of 
depreciation to be included in the cost of goods sold. It is due to the understatement of depreciable 
amounts.  
 From the above analysis, it is obvious that this convention should be used only when there is 
a need for its application. It should not be used arbitrarily as it may not be possible to report the 
current actual position of the owners' equity. Further, it has an effect on the income statement as it 
results in lower net income. Still, this convention should be used as some degree of conservatism is 
considered necessary where the data are subjectively derived from opinion, estimate and judgments.  

Consistency 
 One of the important objectives with which annual reports are prepared and presented to the 
external parties is to provide information showing both the operating result and the financial position. 
As these bits of information are provided to the users with a view to assist them to take appropriate 
and timely decisions, much importance is attached to the system of providing information having 
comparable value. This is possible when the companies follow the uniform principles, methods, 
procedure, etc., of Accounting from one year to another, from one statement to another and among 
themselves. Depreciation expense may be used as an example to illustrate these aspects.  
 In order to obtain an idea about whether the company is operating efficiently or not, one may 
compare the current year's performance of the company with that-of the previous year. Profit to sales 
may be used as one of the profitability ratios. It may be noted here that the rate of profit to sales is 
influenced by the amount of profit earned which in turn is influenced by the amount of depreciation 
expense charged against the revenue. The amount of depreciation is influenced by the method used to 
compute the depreciation. It is, therefore, obvious that any change in the depreciation method changes 
the depreciation expense, cost of sales, amount of profit and therefore, the rate of profit to sales. In 
order to have trend analysis, it is necessary to use the same method during the current year which the 
company used during the previous year/s. This ensures the provision of information possessing 
comparable value. Otherwise, it is not possible as the profit figures are influenced by the difference in 
the depreciation methods. Therefore, these profit figures lack comparability.  
 In order to enable the users to compare the performance of one company with that of another, 
both the companies should use the uniform accounting methods and procedure. Otherwise, their 
performance is influenced by the difference in the accounting methods. Further, it is possible for the 
accountants to produce desirable result (though the reality is very bleak) by using different accounting 
methods. In order to avoid the manipulation of profit figures (by the difference in accounting 
methods), it is necessary for both the companies to use the same uniform accounting procedure. 
 Uniformity is necessitated due to the presence of diverse accounting policies and practices to 
tackle an accounting problem and also these practices are considered by the accounting bodies as 
based on sound principles. And the companies are allowed to use anyone of these generally accepted 
accounting methods and these methods can be changed from one period to another. As a result, the 
performance of the company and its financial position can significantly be influenced. The 
accountants, therefore, assign greater emphasis to the use of the same accounting methods year after 
year consistently. Consistency means that the same transactions have been treated the same way 
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this year and last year so that the financial statements for the current year can be compared 
with preceding years without erroneous conclusion being drawn from them (Sydney Davidson 
and Roman L Weil 1977).  
 The importance of this assumption is that it ensures the receipt of information, by the users, 
which can be compared with the previous year/s as it is assumed that the accounting policies and 
practices are consistent from one period to another. For example,  
a. If the year-end raw material is valued at lower of cost and net realizable value, this principle 

should be followed year after year. 
b. Similarly, if the annual depreciation is calculated on the basis of the Straight Line Method, the 

annual depreciation should be calculated under the same method year after year.  
 The frequent changes in the accounting practices make the balance sheet and the income 
statement figures unreliable to the users. It is only when the accounting methods are uniformly 
followed year after year, the comparable information can be obtained. 
 However, consistency should not be confused with inflexibility/rigidity and it does not 
suggest that the procedures and methods should not be changed once they are adopted. It does not 
forbid the improvement in the communication process. There is a vast scope for desirable changes if 
the changed conditions so require. Whenever there is a change in the policy, a note to this effect 
should be given in the annual reports together with its impact on the items of financial statements, if 
possible. For instance,  

Mysore Porcelains Limited (a subsidiary of Bharat Heavy Electricals Limited, BHEL) was 
capitalizing the attributable overheads to internally executed capital works order until the 
year ended 31st March, 1977. During 1977-78, the said procedure of capitalizing the 
attributable overheads is discontinued and this amounts to a change in the basis of 
accounting. Had this change not been made the profit for the year would have been more 
by ` 83,796.  

 In this regard, it is of much relevance to note that, consistency serves to eliminate bias and 
to even-out personal judgement but it must not become a fetish so as to ignore changed 
conditions or need for improvements in technique (Yamston, Smyth and Brown).  
 From the above, it is clear that the changes are not prohibited but permitted when it is found 
that the use of a different method would more fairly present the result of operation, and the assets and 
liabilities. However, there are three types of generally accepted consistencies as identified and 
analyzed below (Figure – 1.9).  

 
Figure - 1.9: Types of Consistencies 
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a. Vertical Consistency: When an accounting method is used for both income statement and 
balance sheet purposes of a company for a particular year, it is called vertical consistency. For 
example, vertical consistency occurs when an asset is depreciated on straight line method for the 
purpose of both the income statement and the balance sheet of the same period. That means, 
when the same method is used for the purpose of both Profit and Loss Account, and the Balance 
Sheet of the period, it is said to be vertically consistent. If a company, for the year 2013-14, 
follows Straight-Line Method for its income statement and Reducing Balancing Method for its 
balance sheet, there is no vertical consistency but there is vertical inconsistency. It can, therefore, 
be said that the financial statements have not fairly been presented. It is a deviation from the 
general accepted accounting principle and/or accounting regulations.  

b. Horizontal Consistency: If an organization, during the current year, follows the same method 
while preparing the financial statements which it has followed during the preceding year, the 
procedure is said to be horizontally consistent. This enables the users to have a trend analysis 
more effectively as the data of both the periods are comparable. For example, if a company has 
followed the Production Units Method for the purpose of computing depreciation during the 
previous year and if the same Production Units Method is used even during the current year for 
the purpose of determining the amount of depreciation chargeable against the current revenue, it 
is called horizontal consistency. If it differs from one year to another, there is horizontal 
inconsistency and the current year's performance indicators cannot gainfully be compared with 
that of the previous year to find out whether the company has improved its performance or not 
over the previous year/s.  

c. Third - Dimensional Consistency: In a year, if an organization follows the same method which 
another company (in the same or other industry) is following, it is said to be third-dimensional 
consistency. It facilitates the inter-firm comparison. One of the primary objectives of annual 
reports is to provide information permitting a comparison of performance of one company with 
that of another company. This inter-firm comparison requires that like things should be 
accounted in the same manner in the financial statements by different organizations. It is to 
ensure that the results are not influenced by the selection and use of different accounting 
procedures.  

 In conclusion, it may be said that the inconsistencies which are observed are due to the 
absence of a single method, which is acceptable to all parties, to tackle an identical type of problem or 
to tackle the problems which do not require different treatment. This point has clearly been brought 
out in the statement of the AICPA (American Institute of Certified Public Accountants), the Board 
ranks comparability amongst the most important of the objectives of financial accounting, ….. 
and is attempting to narrow areas of difference in accounting practices that are not justified by 
difference in circumstances (Accounting Principles Board, AICPA, 1970).  

Materiality  
 The companies possess voluminous data about their activities and they (i.e., companies) can 
communicate abundant facts and figures to the users. But it is not necessary to report all these details 
as the users do not require all the details except few relevant information. It is, therefore, the 
responsibility of the companies to ensure that only those facts and figures which are material making 
the financial statements more meaningful and which minimize the cost of communication are 
presented to the users. But the word materiality has not lucidly been defined and it is a relative one. 
Anyhow, some of the views expressed by the individuals and the institutions help to form an idea 
about materiality.  
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 Horngren (1981) felt, an item is material if its omission or misstatement would tend to 
mislead the user of the financial statements under consideration. It is obvious from this view that 
if a piece of information is capable of influencing the decision of the user of financial statements, this 
piece of information is material from the view point of this particular user. However, the same piece 
of information may or may not be material to another user. For example,  
a. Information about the Dividend Equalization Fund may be material from the point of view of 

both the existing and the potential shareholders. This is because, while taking a decision whether 
to continue to hold the shares of this company (or to dispose of these shares and invest 
somewhere else) or to take a decision whether the shares of this company may be acquired or 
not, normally, the shareholders (both the existing and the potential) look into the company's 
ability to pay dividend (besides the scope for capital appreciation). The balance in the Dividend 
Equalization Fund is one of the determinants of dividend paying capability. Therefore, the 
information about Dividend Equalization Fund is material from the point of view of the 
shareholders.  

b. But the same information (i.e., information about Dividend Equalization Fund) may not be 
material to the employees of the company.  

 AAA's Committee (American Accounting Association) suggests, an item should be 
regarded as material if there is a reason to believe that knowledge of it would influence the 
decision of an informed investor (Harry Simons 1977). Further, a particular item of information may 
be of high value to the users but the same may not be considered as significant by the accountants 
who, therefore, do not report the same. But what is important is, this issue should be analyzed from 
the point of view of users but not the persons who report. If an item of information is material for the 
users, the accountants/companies should provide that information. If the users also consider a piece of 
information as immaterial (which the accountants have already dubbed as immaterial), it does not pose 
any problem. Further, the environment in which the undertaking is functioning, government, 
government agencies, etc., also determines whether an item of information is material or immaterial. 
For instance, in the recent years, one can find most of the companies using whole rupee accounting 
wherein the accountants are not reporting paise. For example, if a company incurred ` 10,520.4 
electricity charge, the income statement includes only ` 10,520 but not ` 10,520.4. That means, ` 0.4 
is not reported on the ground that it is meagre. But the unrecorded ` 0.4 is not gained by the company 
as there is no reduction in actual electricity expense. But it reduces the cost of maintaining the books 
of account without affecting the result materially.  
 From the above illustration pertaining to electricity charge, one may get an idea that items 
which involve negligible amounts are considered as immaterial. It is partly true and partly wrong. For 
example, an item of expenditure which involves ` 10,000 may be immaterial in the case of a company 
whose annual costs run to billions of rupees, say ` 150 billion, but the same item may be material in 
the case of another company whose annual costs are in thousands say, ` 75,000. Further, the 
disclosure of some items of small amounts may be essential. Though the literature on Accounting is 
not lucid about what quantitative proportion should be reckoned as material, some accountants have 
'endeavoured to establish standards of materiality by rules of thumb, as, by requiring that any item or 
item class the money amount of which is 5% or more of total assets, or 10% or more of net income 
appear as an integral details of a financial statement (Eric L Kohler 1978). Even this criterion suffers 
from the same shortcoming as even the items of small proportions may be important to the users.  
 The materiality convention may be extended even to the classification of costs into 
chargeable and capitalizable. For instance, the amount of money spent on the research and 
development activities (the benefit of which spreads over a number of years) is normally capitalized 
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and amortized over a period of time. This is in accordance with the sound accounting theory. But the 
practice may differ if it does not alter the income and the financial position materially. For example, 
BHEL (Bharat Heavy Electricals Limited) charges the research and development costs to the Profit 
and Loss Account of the year in which these expenses were incurred if the amount of expenses so 
incurred does not exceed ` 10,000 a year.  
 The above illustrative analysis clearly brings out the point that there is no concrete definition 
of 'materiality'. But with the available guidelines, clues and the experience of the accountants, the 
accountants do not find any difficulty to report all material facts and figures. One should take care of 
all the aspects before deciding whether an item is material or immaterial.  

Disclosure  
 At the time of reporting, the accountants face a number of problems including finding out 
answers to the questions like, (a) to whom have we to report? (b) when have we to report?, (c) what is 
to be reported?, etc. As far as the first two questions are concerned, there is no difficulty in finding 
answers as the parties to whom report should to be submitted comprise of either the external parties or 
the internal parties or both. If a report is meant for the external parties, normally company knows who 
are the external parties and their composition. External parties comprise of shareholders, debenture 
holders, employees, financial institutions, government and government agencies, etc. Normally, the 
companies do not report to each group separately. A single report is prepared for all the external 
parties. The companies, therefore, prepare the report in such a way which meets the-needs of all these 
external groups. It is because of this reason that these reports are called general purpose reports. Of 
course, these reports may also be used by the internal parties. But these reports are not prepared to 
meet the needs of the internal parties but the external parties. In the case of reporting to only the 
internal parties, each report differs from others as the report is designed and prepared in accordance 
with the nature of the problem. The reports to the internal parties (i.e., management) are intended to 
shed light on specific problems. And these reports are not supplied to the external parties.  
 The timing is determined by the party to whom the companies are reporting. In the case of 
external reporting, normally the companies report once in a year after the completion of the 
accounting year. In the case of internal reporting, there is no specific rule. Some reports are submitted 
on daily basis, some others on weekly basis, fortnightly basis, ….. Besides the above, some reports are 
also prepared and submitted to the management whenever they are asked for.  
 This way, it is not a difficult task to answer the first two questions. But it is a very difficult 
task to answer the third question viz., what is to be reported? To put it differently, what is to be 
disclosed in the reports (say, annual reports to the external parties). It refers to the contents of the 
reports.  
 This accounting convention (viz., Disclosure) implies that the financial statements and other 
explanatory statements or schedules or footnotes should disclose in full all relevant information which 
enable a reasonable understanding of their meaning by the users and interpret the same for the purpose 
of getting a greater insight into the company's financial position, its debt-paying capacity, profitability, 
etc. It is, therefore, necessary that accounts must honestly be prepared and all material information 
must be disclosed therein.  
 It may be here noted that the use of all relevant information and all material information, 
once again gives rise to a difficulty of defining what constitutes relevant and material. Relevant 
information refers to the information which is pertinent to the decision under consideration and which 
is having a bearing on the decision under consideration. That means, the information which should be 
considered while taking a particular decision may be regarded as relevant to that particular decision. 
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This is because of the reason that in the absence of this piece of information, the decision making 
authority would have taken a different decision other than what it takes in the presence of this piece of 
information. For instance, Mr. X wants to assess the personality of company Y before deciding 
whether to invest his hard earned money in the shares of company Y. He, therefore, wishes to evaluate 
the company from the point of view of both the profitability and the ability to survive in the case of 
trade depression. In order to know the profit earning capacity of the company, Mr. X would like to 
study the trend in profit to capital employed ratio for a period of ten years. Hence, the figures relating 
to the amount of 'profit after tax but before interest and dividend' and the amount of capital employed 
(both the share capital, internal reserves and borrowed capital) for the last ten years (in addition to the 
current year) are considered as relevant information. Hence, this should be disclosed. In the same way, 
'all material information' has been interpreted in relative terms (this has already been discussed under 
the head, materiality). 
 This convention also states that all 'material' information should be disclosed. Once again, 
there is no concrete definition for 'materiality'. Anyhow, some criteria are used to determine whether 
an item is material or not. These evasive and general meanings attached to relevant and material 
have caused a number of difficulties to the accountants and they are not able to determine what should 
be disclosed in the financial reports. Further, 'relevancy' and 'materiality’ of an item differ from one to 
another, from one period to another, from one case to another, etc. At the same time, it is not possible 
to prepare and present individual report exclusively to meet the needs of a particular section. For 
example, it is not possible to prepare a report only to meet the needs of equity shareholders, another 
report to debenture holders, third one to financial institutions, fourth one to preference shareholders, 
fifth one to tax authorities, sixth one to employees, seventh one to stock exchange authorities, eight 
one to controller of capital issues, etc. The reason is, it is not only time consuming but also costlier. 
Therefore, the companies prepare and present a single report which serves the needs of all external 
parties and therefore, they are called general purpose financial reports. It is, therefore, necessary to 
include in the report the information which is required by all the external parties. It is a very difficult 
task for two reasons. One, it is very difficult to find the requirements of each and every individual who 
are external to the company. Second one may be the bulkiness of the report and cost side of the report. 
This might be the reason which has influenced the accountants to shift from full disclosure to 
adequate disclosure. These difficulties faced by the accountants are, to some extent, eased out by the 
statutes governing the activities of the companies. For instance, relevant Provisions of the Companies 
Act specify the format, frequency, etc., of accounts of the companies. The contents of balance sheet, 
and profit and loss account are also prescribed by the Act. These are designed to make disclosure of 
all material facts compulsorily.  
 Besides the facts and figures which shed light on operating performance of the company and 
also on its financial position, it is necessary to disclose some other aspects. They relate to the 
accounting policies, commitments and contingent liabilities, subsequent events, etc. A few excerpts 
are reproduced from the fourteenth annual report of Bharat Heavy Electricals Limited for the year 
1977-78.  
a. One of the accounting policies as stated under the head Accounting Policies reads as, land 

acquired free from state governments has been taken in the books of each division at a 
nominal value of ` 1. 

b. Information about contingent liabilities is given in total at the end of the balance sheet and details 
for which are provided in a separate schedule as shown below. 
 
 



  
46    Accounting Theory and Analysis 

 

 

Extracts from Balance Sheet of BHEL as on 31st March, 1978 

Particulars Amount (` million) 
1977 1978 

Claims against the company not acknowledged as debts 55.040 109.355 
Bills discounted under IDBI scheme 158.388 105.133 
Guarantee to SBM for cash credit facility to a subsidiary company 0.000 33.500 

Total  213.428 247.988 

 All major accounting policies are also disclosed. If there is any shift from one policy to 
another over a period of time, and if this shift has a material effect on the figures of financial 
statements, the same should be disclosed together with its impact. In conclusion, it may be said, the 
disclosure should be adequate, fair and full (Rufus Wixon, Walter G Kell and Norton M Bedford 
1970).  

Accounting Policies 
 The International Accounting Standards Committee (now, International Accounting 
Standards Board, IASB) has made a distinction between fundamental accounting assumptions and 
accounting policies. In respect of accounting assumptions, there is no choice but in respect of 
accounting policies, firms have the option of choosing particular policies. The Committee, however, 
states that three considerations should govern the selection and application (by the management) of 
the appropriate accounting policies and the preparation of financial statements which are enumerated 
below very briefly.  
a. Prudence: As the uncertainties inevitably surround many transactions, the preparation of 

financial statements requires the use of professional judgement while selecting accounting 
policies and making estimates. It (i.e., prudence) requires the accounting departments to exercise 
caution while adopting accounting policies and making estimates. This is necessary to ensure that 
the assets and incomes are not overstated, and the liabilities and expenses are not understated. 
However, prudence does not, however, justify the creation of secret or hidden reserves.  

b. Substance over Form: Transactions and other events should be accounted for and presented in 
accordance with their substance and financial reality, and not merely with their legal form. In 
other words, economic substance of the transactions and events must be recorded in the financial 
statements rather than mere legal form. This is necessary to present a true and fair view of the 
affairs of the companies. This requires the use of judgement on the part of the companies to 
present business sense of transactions and events. Of course, legal aspects of the transactions and 
events are also important. However, economic aspects should be given importance to present 
more useful information to the users of financial statements. 

c. Materiality: Financial statements should disclose all items which are material enough to effect 
evaluation or decisions.  

The GAAPs in the Recent Years  
 In the recent years, especially after'1973, there has been a significant shift in the focus of 
accounting professionals which has rightly been identified by Kenneth S. Most as, since 1973, the 
pursuit of principles has been abandoned in favour of standards both national (through FASB) 
and international (through the International Accounting Standards Committee). The accounting 
bodies are now concentrating on the establishment Accounting Standards. Some of the bodies engaged 
in the establishment of accounting standards are given below.  
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(1) Accounting Standards Committee (ASC): It was established in 1969 (in response to the 
criticisms on the recommendations on accounting process made by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of England and Wales) by the initiative of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
England and Wales supported by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland and the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of Ireland. By the end of 1976, even the other three accounting  
bodies in the United Kingdom (viz., The Association of Certified Accountants, The Institute of Cost 
and Management Accountants, and the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy) started 
associating with the Accounting Standards Committee. The Committee issues accounting standards 
known as Statements of Standard Accounting Practice (SSAP).  

(2) International Accounting Standards Committee/Board (IASC/IASB): There has been a 
significant increase in the international relations and contacts among the countries. As a result, one 
can observe considerable expansion in the activities of business entities in the form of having branches 
and subsidiaries in different countries. Further, this type of international relationships resulted in the 
imports, exports, foreign investments, etc. This has forced the accounting communities to observe 
certain standards while preparing the annual reports which are understood by all the users all over the 
world in the same manner as the accountants intended to communicate.  
 The accountants' problem has been further aggravated by the presence of a number of diverse 
accounting policies and practices for each of few major accounting problems. It is, therefore, 
necessary to reduce this diversity in the accounting practices and procedures so that the users obtain 
the information of comparable value. In order to comply with the requirements of the users, it is 
imperative to use and follow the accounting practices and policies which are in vogue in all countries 
and which are known well to the parties in different countries. This has made it imperative to establish 
international accounting standards.  
 Consequently, on 29th June, 1973, the International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) 
was established by 16 accounting bodies from nine countries (Australia, Canada, France, Germany, 
Japan, Merico, Netherlands, United Kingdom and Ireland, and United States of America). The IASC 
is having its secretariat headquarters at London. The membership rose to 44 from 32 countries by 31st 
March, 1976. Both the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and the Institute of Cost and Works 
Accountants of India (now, it is the Institute of Cost Accountants of India) are the members of the 
lASC. The IASC aims to formulate and publish in the public interest, standards to be observed in 
the presentation of audited financial statements and to promote their world-wide acceptance 
and observance. From 29th June, 1973 to 1st April, 2001 (27 years), IASC issued 41 Accounting 
Standards in numerical sequence, IAS -1 to IAS – 41 (the last IAS as on Agriculture in December 
2000). IASC also established the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) in 1977 to consider the 
contentious accounting issues that required authoritative guidance to stop widespread variation in 
practice. 
 On 1st April, 2001, the International Accounting Standards Committee was restructured 
resulting in the formation of International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). It (i.e., IASB) has 
adopted the standards issued IASC and these standards are continued to be designated as International 
Accounting Standards (IASs) but the new standards established by IASB are published as 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). In July 2001, IASB has renamed the Standing 
Interpretations Committee as the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(IFRIC). IFRSs, therefore, comprise of (a) IASs issued by IASC before 1st April, 2001 (until they are 
replaced by IFRSs), (b) Interpretations issued by SIC before 1st April, 2001, (c) IFRSs issue by IASB 
after 1st April, 2001, and (d) Interpretations issued by IFRIC after 1st April, 2001. 
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 The following table (Table – 1.6) provides the details about the lASs/IFRSs adopted/issued 
by the IASB.  

Table – 1.6: International Financial Reporting Standards 
Standard 

No IAS/IFRS  

IAS - 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
IAS - 2 Inventories 
IAS - 7 Cash Flow Statements 
IAS - 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors 

IAS - 10 Events after the Balance Sheet Date 
IAS - 11 Construction Contracts 
IAS - 12 Income Taxes 
IAS - 16 Property, Plant and Equipment 
IAS - 17 Leases  
IAS - 18 Revenue  
IAS - 19 Employee Benefits 
IAS - 20 Government Grants 
IAS - 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates 
IAS - 23 Borrowing Costs 
IAS - 24 Related Parties 
IAS - 26 Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans 
IAS - 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
IAS - 28 Investments in Associates 
IAS - 29 Financial Reporting by Hyperinflationary Economies 
IAS - 31 Interests in Joint Ventures 
IAS - 33 Earnings per Share 
IAS - 34 Interim Financial Reporting 
IAS - 36 Impairment of Assets 
IAS - 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
IAS - 38 Intangible Assets 
IAS - 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 
IAS - 40 Investment Property 
IAS - 41 Agriculture  
IFRS - 1 First Time Adoption of IFRSs 
IFRS - 2 Share Based Payments 
IFRS - 3 Business Combinations 
IFRS - 4 Insurance Contracts 
IFRS - 5 Non-current Assets held for Sale and Discontinued Operations 
IFRS - 6 Exploration and Evaluation of Mineral Resources 
IFRS - 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
IFRS - 8 Operating Segments 
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 IFRSs represent a set of rules and guidelines developed and issued by IASB for 
standardizing the preparation and presentation of financial statements so that all stakeholders 
such as investors, organizations, governments and their agencies, suppliers, etc., have a basis for 
comparison. They specify as to how particular types of transactions and other events should be 
accounted for and reported in financial statements. In other words, they explain how the 
company accounts must be prepared and presented. They also specify the minimum levels of 
disclosure, establish fundamental principles, delineate the meanings of terms, and stipulate how 
numbers must be calculated. They aim at standardizing accounting practices across the world. 
As is known very well, till recently each country had its own set of rules - U.S GAAPs were 
different from Canadian GAAPs which differed from Indian GAAPs. Now the IASB has started 
the process of synchronizing the accounting and reporting standards across the globe. Though 
IASB has no authority to enforce its rulings, a number of countries including India have decided 
to follow its standards. The goal of IFRSs is to ensure international comparison as easy as 
possible. 

(3) Accounting Standards Board (ASB): By becoming the member of IASC, the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India (lCAI) has assumed the responsibility of issuing Accounting 
Standards based on the IASs altering or modifying or improving them in the light of the environment, 
customs, usage, law, etc., prevailed in India. For this purpose, the ICAI constituted the Accounting 
Standards Board on 21st April, 1977. The ASB has developed, based on IASs, a number of 
Accounting Standards which were issued by the Council of ICAI. Initially, these standards were 
recommendatory in nature and they were made mandatory subsequently. These standards are also 
issued in numerical sequence like AS – 1, AS – 2, etc. Besides, ICAI also issues interpretations/ 
compendium.  
 Even with the restructuring of IASC as IASB and with the establishment of IFRSs, ICAI and 
its ASB continued their roles with minor change. IFRS-converged Indian Accounting Standards are 
also issued in numerical sequence as Ind AS – 101, Ind AS – 102, etc. Government of India has 
constituted National Advisory Committee on Accounting Standards (NACAS) under Section 210 
(A) of Companies Act, 1956. This committee advises the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (earlier, 
Company Affairs) on Accounting Standards. Therefore, the Ind ASs developed by ICAI 
(through its ASB) should be routed through NACAS to the Ministry of Corporate Affairs. And 
the Central Government (i.e., Ministry of Corporate Affairs) notifies these Ind ASs on the advice 
of NACAS. And the Ind ASs are legally recognized by the introduction of Section 211 (3) (C) to 
Companies Act, 1956 [through the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1999]. Though the Ind ASs 
are ready, the Central Government is yet to notify effective date (of course, few companies have 
already started preparing their financial statements and reported based on these Ind ASs). The 
details of Ind ASs are presented below (Table – 1.7). 

Table – 1.7: Ind ASs Notified by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs 
Ind ASs 
Number Indian Accounting Standard/Ind ASs (and corresponding IFRS of IASB) 

101 First-time Adoption of Indian Accounting Standards (IFRS – 1) 
102 Share-based Payment (IFRS – 2) 
103 Business Combinations (IFRS – 3) 
104 Insurance Contracts (IFRS – 4) 
105 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations (IFRS – 5) 
106 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources (IFRS – 6) 
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107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (IFRS – 7) 
108 Operating Segments (IFRS – 8) 

AS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (IAS - 1) 
AS 2 Inventories (IAS - 2) 
AS 7 Statement of Cash Flows (IAS - 7) 
AS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors (IAS - 8) 

AS 10 Events after the Reporting Period (IAS - 10) 
AS 11 Construction Contracts (IAS - 11) 
AS 12 Income Taxes (IAS - 12) 
AS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (IAS - 16) 
AS 17 Leases (IAS - 17) 
AS 18 Revenue (IAS - 18) 
AS 19 Employee Benefits (IAS - 19) 
AS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance (IAS - 20) 
AS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates (IAS - 21) 
AS 23 Borrowing Costs (IAS - 23) 
AS 24 Related Party Disclosures (IAS - 24) 
AS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (IAS - 27) 
AS 28 Investments in Associates (IAS - 28) 
AS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies (IAS - 29) 
AS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures (IAS - 31) 
AS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation (IAS - 32) 
AS 33 Earnings per Share (IAS - 33) 
AS 34 Interim Financial Reporting (IAS - 34) 
AS 36 Impairment of Assets (IAS - 36) 
AS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (IAS - 37) 
AS 38 Intangible Assets (IAS - 38) 
AS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (IAS - 39) 
AS 40 Investment Property (IAS - 40) 

Procedure for issuing Accounting Standards 
 In order to issue Accounting Standards (IFRSs by IASB, and Ind ASs by the ASB of ICAI), 
the following procedure is normally followed by the standard setting bodies.  
a. Selection of accounting issue/subject which needs an Accounting Standard. 
b. Appointment of steering committee or experts committee.  
c. Analysis of problem in depth, defining important terminologies, evaluation of existing practices 

by the corporate world and suggestion of possible solutions. 
d. Preparation of exposure draft for the consideration of the Board (The Board comprises of all 

founder members and not more than two from other members – may vary from one standard 
setter to another).  

e. If the exposure draft is approved by at least two-thirds of the members of the Board, it is 
circulated among the accounting bodies, governments, Securities and Exchange Commission, 
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and other interested parties inviting comments, suggestions, etc., thereon. Of course, adequate 
time is given by the committee.  

f. Examination of the comments and suggestions received and incorporation of the same if 
necessary or modification of the exposure draft whenever required in the light of the comments 
and suggestions.  

g. Placement of the revised exposure draft before the Board.  
h. Issue of revised exposure draft as Accounting Standard if the revised exposure draft is accepted 

by three-fourths of the members of the Board.  
 The Accounting Standards so issued become operative from the date mentioned in the 
Standards. The Accounting Standards aim at harmonization, as far as possible, of the diverse 
accounting policies and practices as exist to-day. The accounting bodies require the auditors to ensure 
that the financial statements comply with the Accounting Standards in all material respects. If there is 
any deviation, this should be disclosed in the reports together with the reason for such deviation.  

Conclusion  
 There has been a continuous and substantial change in the corporate environment. This is more so 
in the case of accounting environment as one can find new type of problems. One of the important 
developments is the association of a large number of parties spread throughout the world and with different 
interest and objectives with the business organizations. As a result, the companies are required to report 
different parties enabling them to understand the contents of the reports, analyze them as a prerequisite to 
take informed decisions. In this background the accounting principles play a pivotal role assisting both the 
preparers of reports (viz., companies) and the users of reports (viz., external and internal parties). The 
developments of accounting principles are closely associated with the developments in the corporate 
society. Now the accounting bodies all over the world are busy with the adoption of IFRSs or convergence 
of country-specific accounting standards with the IFRSs. India has also started the process of convergence 
and the Government of India is yet to notify the date for implementation.  
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Questions for Self-study – I: Multiple Choice Questions 
01. Recording of capital contributed by the owner as liability ensures adherence of Principle of, 

 A. Matching  B. Going Concern 
 C. Double Entry D. Separate Entity of Business 

[CA (CPT), November 2006] 
02. Provision for bad debts is made due to the Principle of, 

 A. Conservatism  B. Revenue Matching 
 C. Full Disclosure D. Both (A) and (B) 

[CA (CPT), November 2006] 
03. Recording of fixed assets at cost ensures adherence of, 

 A. Conservatism  B. Cost Concept 
 C. Going Concern Concept D. Accrual Concept 

[CA (CPT), November 2006] 
04. When fixed assets are sold, 

 A. Total assets will increase B. Total liabilities will increase 
 C. Total assets will decrease D. There is no change in total assets 

[CA (CPT), November 2006] 
05. The Accounting Equation is based on, 

 A. Going Concern Concept B. Dual Aspect Concept 
 C. Money Measurement Concept D. All of these 

[CA (CPT), February 2007] 
06. …… Concept is the basic idea that the business is separate from owner. 

 A. Dual Aspect B. Entity  
 C. Realization  D. Materiality  

[CA (CPT), February 2007] 
07. The owner of a company included his personal medical expenses in the company’s income 

statement. Indicate the Principle that is violated. 
 A. Cost Principle B. Conservatism  
 C. Disclosure  D. Entity Concept 

[CA (CPT), February 2007] 
08. Money owed from an outsider is a/an, 

 A. Asset  B. Liability  
 C. Expense  D. Capital  

[CA (CPT), May 2007] 
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09. Cost of machinery ` 10,00,000; installation charge ` 1,00,000 and market value on 31st 
March, 2006 ` 12,00,000. While finalizing the accounts, if the company values the machinery 
at ` 12,00,000, which Concept is violated by the company? 

 A. Cost  B. Matching  
 C. Realization  D. Periodicity  

[CA (CPT), May 2007] 
10. Capital as on 1st April, 2005 ` 90,000; capital introduced ` 25,000; drawings made ` 35,000; 

and capital on 31st March, 2006 ` 1,25,000. What is the amount of profit added to the capital? 
 A. ` 50,000 B. ` 60,000 
 C. ` 75,000 D. ` 45,000 

[CA (CPT), May 2007] 
11. GAAPs are, 

 A. Generally Accepted Accounting Policies B. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
 C. Generally Accepted Accounting Provisions D. None of these 

[CA (CPT), May 2007] 
12. ….. refer to the general agreement on the usage and practice in social or economic life. 

 A. Accounting Assumptions B. Accounting Conventions 
 C. Accounting Policies D. Accounting Principles 

[CA (CPT), August 2007] 
13. Double Entry Principle means, 

 A. Writing twice the same entry B. Writing all entries twice in the book 
 C. Having debit for every credit and 

credit for every debit 
D. All the above 

[CA (CPT), August 2007] 
14. If Going Concern Concept is no longer valid, which of the following is true? 

 A. All prepaid assets would be completely written off immediately 
 B. The allowance for uncollectible accounts would be eliminated 
 C. Intangible assets would continue to be carried at net amortized historical cost 
 D. Land held as an investment would be valued at its realizable value 

[CA (CPT), November 2007] 
15. Ram starts business with ` 90,000 and then buys goods from Shyam on credit for ` 23,000. 

The Accounting Equation based on (Assets = Capital + Liabilities) will be, 
 A. ` 1,13,000 = ` 90,000 + ` 23,000 B. ` 1,13,000 = ` 1,13,000 + ` 0 
 C. ` 90,000 = ` 67,000 + ` 23,000 D. ` 67,000 = ` 90,000 - ` 23,000 

[CA (CPT), August 2007] 
16. Which financial statement represents the Accounting Equation, (Assets = Liabilities + 

Owners’ Equity)? 
 A. Income Statement B. Cash Flow Statement 
 C. Balance Sheet D. Funds Flow Statement 

[CA (CPT), November 2007] 
17. Ram purchased a car for ` 10,000, paid ` 3,000 as cash and balance amount will be paid in 

three equal installments. Due to this, 
 A. Total assets increase by ` 10,000 B. Total liabilities increase by ` 3,000 
 C. Assets will increase by ` 7,000 with corresponding increase in liability by ` 7,000 
 D. Both (B) and (C)  [CA (CPT), February 2008] 
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18. During life-time of an entity, accountants prepare financial statements at arbitrary points of 
time as per, 

 A. Prudence  B. Consistency  
 C. Periodicity  D. Matching  

[CA (CPT), February 2008] 
19. The Accounting Convention of Matching means, 

 A. Profit for the period to be matched with sales revenue 
 B. Profit for the period to be matched with investment 
 C. Expenses of one period to be matched against the expenses of another period 
 D. Expenses of one period to be matched against the revenue of the same period 

[CA (CPT), February 2008] 
20. Omission of paise and showing the round figure in financial statements is based on, 

 A. Conservatism Concept B. Consistency Concept 
 C. Materiality Concept D. Realization Concept 

[CA (CPT), June 2008] 
21. Accounting does not record non-financial transactions because of, 

 A. Accrual Concept B. Cost Concept 
 C. Continuity Concept D. Money Measurement Concept 

[CA (CPT), June 2008] 
22. Which Concept requires that those transactions which can be expressed in terms of money 

should be recorded in the books of account? 
 A. Business Entity B. Dual Aspect 
 C. Money Measurement D. None of these 

[CA (CPT), December 2008] 
23. An asset was purchased for ` 6,60,000. Cash was paid ` 1,20,000 and for the balance, a bill 

was drawn for 60 days. What will be the effect on fixed assets? 
 A. ` 1,20,000  B. ` 5,40,000  
 C. ` 6,60,000  D. Nil  

[CA (CPT), December 2008] 
24. Unpaid expenses are, 

 A. Outstanding Liabilities B. Prepaid Expenses 
 C. Unaccrued Expenses D. All of these 

[CA (CPT), December 2008] 
25. In the accounting period, according to which Concept, cost incurred to acquire an asset is 

shown in the Balance Sheet? 
 A. Business Concept B. Realization Concept 
 C. Cost Concept D. Accounting Period Concept 

[CA (CPT), December 2008] 
26. What is the effect on the net assets if cash is received from debtors of ` 50,000? 

 A. Increase  B. Decrease  
 C. No change D. None of these 

[CA (CPT), December 2008] 
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27. Provision for Discount is made due to Concept of, 
 A. Conservatism  B. Matching  
 C. Both (A) and (B) D. Materiality  

[CA (CPT), June 2009] 
28. Debtors = ` 50,000. A provision for bad debt is created at 5% according to which Concept? 

 A. Conservatism  B. Matching  
 C. Accrual  D. Dual Aspect 

[CA (CPT), June 2009] 
29. Outstanding expense is included in Profit and Loss Account for the year end according to 

which Concept? 
 A. Matching  B. Full Disclosure 
 C. Accrual  D. Going Concern 

[CA (CPT), June 2009] 
30. What is the objective of Conservatism? 

 A. Take all incomes and losses B. Anticipate losses but not profits 
 C. Take all losses D. None of the above 

[CA (CPT), June 2009] 
31. “A going-concern is one which has not contemplated going into liquidation even in the 

remotest future at the time of preparing its latest financial statements”. 
 A. True B. False 

[ICWA, Stage - II, December 2002] 

Questions for Self-study – II: Theoretical Questions 
01. Why are Accounting Concepts and Conventions required? How do you distinguish between 

Accounting Concepts and Conventions?  [ICWA (Final), December 1993] 

02. Briefly discuss basic Accounting Concepts and Fundamental Accounting Assumptions. Is there 
is a conflict between the two?  [ICWA (Inter), May 1993] 

03. What do you mean by GAAPs? Briefly explain the structure of GAAPs.  

04. Accounting principles are built on a foundation of a few basic concepts. List out four such 
concepts.  [ICWA, Stage – II, June 2003] 

05. Discuss, in brief, any four Concepts of Accounting.  [ICWA (Inter), December 1996] 

06. Write a note on Money Measurement Concept.  [ICWA, Grade – I, December 2011] 

07. Discuss Conventions regarding financial statements and limitations of financial statements. 
 [ICWA (Inter), November 1988] 

08. Explain the various Accounting Conventions.  [CA (Inter), November 1989] 

09. Write short notes on Entity and Materiality Concepts.  [ICWA (Final), June 1990] 

10. Explain Going Concern Concept.  [CA (Inter), May 1991] 

11. Write short note on Entity Concept.  [CA (Inter), November 1995] 

12. Write a note on Matching Principle. [ICWA (Final), December 1992] 
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13. Define in one sentence each, (a) Expense, (b) Liability, (c) Equity, (d) Asset, and (e) Income.   
 [CA (Inter), November 1997] 

14. What are the Fundamental Accounting Assumptions? Are these different from Accounting 
Policies?  [ICWA (Final), December 1990] 

15. How do you interpret the Convention of Consistency? What do the terms Vertical Consistency, 
Horizontal Consistency and Third-dimensional Consistency mean? [ICWA (Final), June 1990] 

16. What are the important factors which need attention while determining income of business 
today?   [ICWA (Final), December 1993] 

17. Write a short note on Accounting Convention of Consistency.  
 [ICWA, Grade – I, December 2012] 

18. Discuss the Principles behind the timing of Revenue Recognition.  
 [ICWA (Final), December 1994]  

19. What are the Rules regarding Expense Recognition? Discuss these with reference to Accrual 
Method of Accounting.  [ICWA (Final), June 1996] 

20. Write short note on Fundamental Accounting Assumptions.  [CA (Foundation), May 1996] 

21. Distinguish between Accrual basis of Accounting and Cash basis of Accounting.  

 [CA (Foundation), June 1993] 

22. Discuss briefly the basis Accounting Concepts.  [CA (Final), November 1991] 

23. Write short note on Matching of Cost and Revenue.  [CA (Final), November 1988] 

24. Write an explanatory note on Cost Concept 

25. Write short note on Objectives of Financial Reporting. [CA (Final), May 1989] 

26. Write an analytical note on Realization Principle. 

27. Write short note on Principles of Disclosure.  [CA (Final), November 1990] 

28. “Anticipate no profit but provide for all possible losses”. Elucidate the statement. Does 
Conservatism clash with Objectivity and Consistency? 

29. Write a note on ‘Materiality Concept’.  [ICWA, Grade – I, December 2008] 

30. Define expense, and distinguish it from expenditure and cost. 

31. Write a note on Accounting Bases’.  [ICWA, Grade – I, December 2009] 

32. Briefly explain the circumstances under which each of the following bases are used for 
recognition of revenue. 

a. Upon delivery to the buyer. 

b. Upon collection of the entire selling price. 

c. In proportion of collections made. 

d. Upon the completion of the entire work. 

e. In proportion of the work completed. 
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33. What inspires an accountant to, 

a. Value stock at the end at market price or cost price, whichever is less. 

b. Ignore the market value of fixed assets. 

c. Make provision for doubtful debts in advance of the actual bad debts? 
 [CS (Inter), April 1977] 

Answers to Questions for Self-study – I 
1 - D 2 - D 3 – B 4 - D 5 - B 6 - B 
7 - D 8 - A 9 - A 10 - D 11 - B 12 - B 
13 - C 14 - D 15 - A 16 - C 17 - C 18 - C 
19 - D 20 - C 21 -D 22 - C 23 - C 24 - A 
25 - C 26 - C 27 - A 28 - A 29 - C 30 - B 
31 - A      
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